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          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I call the

          3  meeting to order. Present beside myself are

          4  Committee Members Al Vann, Melinda Katz, and Eric

          5  Gioia. We have one item on the agenda today. Land

          6  Use #395C030194AZMK. Modified application submitted

          7  by City Planning for a proposed modification

          8  pursuant -- I'm sorry. For an amendment of the

          9  zoning map section #16C and 16D. I'm very pleased to

         10  see you here this morning, Commissioner. And why

         11  don't you begin.

         12                 MS BURDEN: -- And it's honor and

         13  pleasure to testify before you. And your committee

         14  on zoning and franchises. And the Council Members

         15  Joy and Vann who are here to hear our testimony. I

         16  want to tell you this morning about our Parks Slope

         17  rezoning proposal. And I want to start by saying in

         18  the very first week that I came to this

         19  Administration, I talked to the staff about what was

         20  their priority. What would like they to see done?

         21  What were their hopes and their dreams? And the very

         22  first item that came before me was Parks Slope

         23  Rezoning. Parks Slope rezoning comprises 110 blocks.

         24  And it has been the aspiration of Community Board 6

         25  in the Park Slope area for a decade. For ten years
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          2  to rezone the Park Slope neighborhood. And the

          3  reason is this. Park Slope has perhaps the most

          4  distinguished architectural heritage brownstone

          5  neighborhood, probably in all of New York. Good

          6  morning, Council Member Quinn. And it comprises of

          7  approximately 100 blocks. And City Planning when it

          8  does a rezoning, when it does a preservation action,

          9  it always looks at areas for growth. And this

         10  rezoning actually accomplishes both goals. We are

         11  pleased to tell you the achievement of the community

         12  to address those 100 blocks of preservation. One

         13  hundred blocks of preservation in Park Slope. And

         14  that is coupled with a corridor of growth along

         15  Fourth Avenue. For those of you who know Fourth

         16  Avenue in Park Slope, it is an avenue which is 120

         17  feet wide. It has vacant lots. It has gas stations.

         18  And, however, it has great mass transportation.

         19                 A very wide avenue can actually

         20  accommodate growth beautifully. A 120 feet wide

         21  boulevard can beautifully accommodate 120 feet high

         22  buildings. It's what we might call the perfect urban

         23  design plan. And if you look in all of Brooklyn,

         24  there are few corridors where they is almost

         25  complete agreement that this is one corridor that
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          2  actually can accommodate apartment house

          3  construction. Why is apartment house construction so

          4  desirable? It actually can accommodate whole variety

          5  of apartment types. One bedroom or families. It also

          6  can accommodate affordable housing. And with any

          7  action that we undertake, affordable housing has to

          8  be an important component of that action.

          9                 We understand the needs of the City

         10  and I think you're all quite aware that the Mayor

         11  has come forth with a very aggressive and ambitious

         12  program. A $3 billion dollar program to accommodate

         13  new construction and renovation and housing

         14  throughout the City to accomplish the renovation and

         15  construction of 65 units of housing.

         16                 We are totally committed to that. And

         17  that program contemplates two unique and new

         18  endeavors. One is to provide financial assistance

         19  for affordable housing to privately owned land which

         20  perfectly matches Park Slope. Because there is a lot

         21  of privately owned land. And it also endeavors to

         22  subsidize the clean up of contaminated sites. Gas

         23  stations, for instance.

         24                 What we see in Park Slope is a

         25  preservation of the 100 blocks and an avenue of
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          2  apartment houses. Many of these properties are owned

          3  by privately owned -- are privately owned by

          4  individual developers. And HBD has began an outreach

          5  to the developers in that neighborhood to make them

          6  aware because there these are new programs of the

          7  ability to actually take on these programs. And make

          8  this housing affordable. So, we have this what we

          9  believe is an incredibly important rezoning for Park

         10  Slope. An ability to preserve an entire neighborhood

         11  and to accommodate growth and new housing

         12  construction in the Park Slope neighborhood.

         13                 As you probably know, in Park Slope,

         14  there's a very tight, tight supply of housing. And

         15  this will actually increase the supply of housing

         16  significantly. But at the same time, stop

         17  inappropriate construction in the Brooklyn

         18  Brownstone neighborhood of Park Slope.

         19                 I'm going to turn the microphone

         20  over. Let me introduce my two colleagues to my left

         21  and my right. On my left is Regina Myer who is the

         22  Director of the Brooklyn Office of City Planning.

         23  And to my right is Sandy Hornick who is the Deputy

         24  Director of Strategic Planning for City Planning,

         25  the City Planning Department. And who is the co-
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          2  author of the "Inclusionary Housing Proposal for New

          3  York City." And he will be able to address any

          4  number of questions you might have on affordable

          5  housing. But what I would like to do now is turn the

          6  floor over to Regina Myer, who will go through the

          7  proposal in some detail. And then be able to answer

          8  any questions about it. And then turn the microphone

          9  over to Sandy Hornick. Regina, will you take it from

         10  there?

         11                 MS. MYER: Sure. Good morning, Council

         12  Members. I just want to go through briefly some of

         13  the major technical tenant. Thank you. Yes, it is

         14  now on. I want to go through some of the technical

         15  elements of the proposal. I'm going to stand up by

         16  the Board to go through those. As Amanda emphasized,

         17  the Park Slope proposal encompasses -- I'll move

         18  this closer. The proposal includes 110 blocks in

         19  Community District 6 bound by Prospect Park, 15th

         20  Street, Third Avenue and Fourth Avenue and Union

         21  Street on the north. This area now is zoned R6 which

         22  is a 2.43 FAR district which permits really a wide

         23  range of housing types. And that really does speak

         24  to exactly why the preservation element of this

         25  proposal is so important. Because in many locations,
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          2  in the Brownstone area, we have found that there has

          3  been development of out of scale buildings some

          4  reaching seven stories in a three or four story

          5  context. Also, buildings have been set back from the

          6  existing street line. And also curb cuts have really

          7  broken the context of this neighborhood.

          8                 Right now in terms of the existing

          9  preservation in this area, I'd also like to show you

         10  that the existing historic district which is really

         11  one of New York City's earliest historic district,

         12  only preserves the most eastern portion of the Park

         13  Slope neighborhood. So, the idea of looking at all

         14  of the Brownstones in Park Slope is something that

         15  District 6 has talked to us for a long time just for

         16  that reason.

         17                 In terms of the proposal, as you can

         18  see from this map, most of the proposal is for a R6B

         19  district which would limit height to 50 feet in the

         20  historic -- in the Brownstone areas. Along Fourth

         21  Avenue, the proposal is for an up zoning to R8A.

         22  That would permit up to 12 stories of apartment

         23  house construction on a street that we think can

         24  really sustain it. The subways are on Union Street

         25  and on Ninth Street and so this street really can --
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          2  has excellent mass transit access for apartment

          3  house construction.

          4                 A few other items I would like to

          5  point out in terms of the proposal. The commercial

          6  avenues of Fifth Avenue and Seventh Avenue would be

          7  rezoned to R6A. And with the existing commercial

          8  districts would be sustained at a height of 70 feet

          9  and in the areas on the eastern side of the

         10  neighborhoods, we would rezone to R7B. And that

         11  very, very closely matches the existing Brownstones

         12  which are actually a little bit taller and they

         13  achieve a height of 70 -- excuse me, 75 feet. So,

         14  the proposal is very, very fine grained. We've

         15  looked at all of the blocks in Park Slope and we

         16  have both the preservation goals in all of the

         17  Brownstone areas that match with the growth corridor

         18  of Fourth Avenue.

         19                 I'd like to turn this over to Sandy

         20  Hornick, Deputy Executive Director of Strategic

         21  Planning. He will discuss issues that have been

         22  raised relating to affordable housing in the

         23  neighborhood.

         24                 MR. HORNICK: Good morning. I'd like

         25  to just start by saying that the Department is a
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          2  supporter of affordable housing in general and

          3  inclusionary housing in particular. New York City

          4  had some of the first inclusionary housing programs

          5  in the country that date back to the 1970's.

          6  Actually late 1960's, the first one. Unfortunately,

          7  those four programs that were adopted in the zoning

          8  produced no housing. We reworked the program in the

          9  1987 and adopted a program in high density

         10  districts.

         11                 The program is remarkably successful

         12  in meeting all the objectives that it set out to do.

         13  However, one of the things that drove that program

         14  was attempt to be realistic and understand what it

         15  could do. And what it can do is somewhat limited.

         16  So, let me just say a couple of things about it

         17  inclusionary housing programs.

         18                 One is the program has to work to

         19  achieve below market rate housing. The four programs

         20  that preceded it which were sort of ideologically

         21  driven did not work in that regard. They produced

         22  zero units in the 16 or 17 years that they were on

         23  the books. The second thing it needs to do is it

         24  needs not to have an impact on -- a negative impact

         25  on market rate housing production. Housing
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          2  production overall.

          3                 The current housing program provides

          4  a two FAR bonus in ten to 12 FAR districts. Those

          5  are mapped mostly in Manhattan. They are also mapped

          6  in downtown Brooklyn on a block in Bronx, and a few

          7  blocks in Queens. The program gives the developer a

          8  number of choices whether he produces on site or off

          9  site, new construction or renovation. The developer

         10  almost always chooses to do off site new development

         11  at a ratio of about four square feet of market rate

         12  increase the floor for each one square feet of lower

         13  income housing through 1987. And today, 553 units of

         14  low- income housing have been produced. Which would

         15  translate to about 2,200 units of market rate

         16  housing also produced under that program.

         17                 Why are we concerned about such a

         18  program here and how it might affect or not affect

         19  affordable housing? The prime reason that housing

         20  prices have risen in Park Slope and I'm a long term

         21  resident of Park Slope as well as a planning

         22  bureaucrat, I guess. It is that the supply of

         23  housing in Park Slope has expanded very little over

         24  the years and the demand for housing in Park Slope

         25  has expanded a great deal. Housing prices have risen
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          2  from extremely modest levels. When I moved in 28

          3  years ago, it was considered a bargain to live in

          4  Park Slope. And you get astonishing houses at

          5  astonishingly cheap prices. And the opposite is true

          6  today. You can still get some very nice housing, but

          7  it's at astonishing expensive prices. Especially for

          8  Brooklyn.

          9                 So what you need to do as part of

         10  this program is to increase housing production. The

         11  Mayor's plan calls for significant increase in

         12  housing production City wide. If we could just

         13  imagine what it would take to get 5,000 additional

         14  units of housing each year, that would be 50,000

         15  units over the last decade. How much lower housing

         16  prices would be today if there were additional

         17  50,000 housing units on the market place. Joe

         18  Rosenberg is next to me and I'm sure he can speak at

         19  great length about those programs.

         20                 What would happen here if we had

         21  inclusionary housing program? Well, we know in

         22  Manhattan which is the strongest housing market in

         23  the City, we know that half or more than half of the

         24  developers do not choose to use the inclusionary

         25  housing program. And the question we have for Park
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          2  Slope, is if they don't do that, what does that do

          3  for housing production in Park Slope. Well, if you

          4  have a 6FAR building and the ground floor is going

          5  to be lobby space and retail, that means you've got

          6  5FAR residential. If you lose an FAR -- two FAR

          7  which people have suggested in this thing, that

          8  means you can get 40 percent less housing. Two of

          9  your five FAR is lost. And even if that only happens

         10  on half of the units, you're losing 20 percent of

         11  the housing production that this program is designed

         12  to produce. The consequences of that is that not

         13  that the affluent houses may be seeking market rate

         14  housing are to go away, it's that they go into the

         15  existing housing stock and bid up the price of

         16  housing for every single unit in Park Slope.

         17                 We feel that you must have a program

         18  that does -- that maximizes market rate housing

         19  production and then you use the City's very

         20  ambitious, uniquely ambitious program to get the

         21  affordable housing that you need.

         22                 MS. BURDEN: Joe Rosenberg.

         23                 MR. ROSENBERG: Good morning, I'm Joe

         24  Rosenberg. I'm Deputy Commissioner of Planning under

         25  governmental for HPD. I can't let Sandy take the
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          2  only hit by saying he's a planning bureaucrat. I

          3  guess I have to say I'm a governmental bureaucrat.

          4  So, at least there's some company there. I want to

          5  talk to you. Sandy said at great length. But I think

          6  great length would put everyone to sleep. I do want

          7  to talk briefly about the commitment to

          8  affordability we had in the past and what we

          9  continue to have. Everyone in this room regardless

         10  of their political affiliations acknowledges that

         11  there is clearly a shortage in housing in New York

         12  City. Clear example is that in the last housing

         13  vacancy survey, the vacancy rates was 2.94 down from

         14  3.19 percent several years ago.

         15                 We need to spur production and the

         16  housing climate has changed dramatically. The days

         17  of vast blocks of vacant land ceased to due

         18  abandonment in the 1970's and 1980's are over. Very

         19  little vacant land -- City owned vacant land

         20  remains. It's now basically been transformed into

         21  small homes for working families as well as the

         22  construction of new multiple dwellings. Likewise,

         23  another source of affordable housing which was the

         24  in rem City-owned stock has also declined. We had at

         25  one point over 100,000 units in New York City that
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          2  were City owned. We've now transferred all except

          3  8,500 units to qualify not- for- profits, private

          4  locally based entrepreneurs. And many instances,

          5  tenants who occupy the buildings. So these buildings

          6  are all back on the market after having been

          7  rehabilitated through the extensive City capital

          8  commitment. So, with the diminishing of the vacant

          9  land and of the in rem stock, where do we look. One

         10  example is former Brownfields. We believe there are

         11  around perhaps 4,000 acres of Brownfields in New

         12  York City. We developed one recently in Bushwick.

         13  That will create 350 units of affordable housing.

         14  That's on a seven acre stretch.

         15                 The one that is most significantly we

         16  believe, are the rezoned areas. And this is a clear

         17  example of where we believe they will be -- we will

         18  be able to spare affordable housing. Not just

         19  through our existing programs, but also through the

         20  new ones.

         21                 One clear example of an initiative

         22  that we work very closely with everyone on the

         23  Council on several months ago, was an enrichment of

         24  the J51 benefit. Previously, if a private owner had

         25  substantial rehabilitated their property, they
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          2  received a 14 year exemption under J51. J51 is the

          3  program that modernizes the housing stock. We've

          4  modernized around 320,000 units since 1999 pursuant

          5  to this. The deepening of this enrichment here is

          6  that if you're a private owner and you do a

          7  substantial rehab pursuant to one of the City's

          8  affordable housing programs, instead of a 14 year

          9  exemption, you get a 34 year exemption.

         10                 We think this is an issue that will

         11  specifically benefit the Fourth Avenue Corridor and

         12  Park Slope. Where you have retail stores on the

         13  ground floor, but vacant or under utilized

         14  apartments above that. We believe that this will

         15  bring people to the market, especially affordable

         16  housing market that had been on the sidelines. And

         17  we've been very aggressive in indicating how

         18  important this will be. And many of you have heard

         19  this -- the specifics on this initiative quite a few

         20  times. Especially, I believe, Councilman Yassky.

         21                 Another program we've had since 1971,

         22  421A tax incentives. This is an incentive for the

         23  construction of new multiple dwellings. If 20

         24  percent of them are low- income, you get a 20 year

         25  exemption. This again is getting the private sector
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          2  to work with us on producing affordable housing.

          3  You're probably all aware of our low interest

          4  rehabilitation loan programs. In exchange for

          5  rehabilitation of a building, you have to enter into

          6  a 30 year regulatory agreement keeping it as

          7  affordable housing. But also, we realize that these

          8  programs are not enough. And that's why we have a

          9  tremendous commitment that was announced in December

         10  by the Mayor for a new $3 billion dollar, five- year

         11  housing plan that will construct and rehabilitate

         12  65,000 units throughout the City.

         13                 With this plan, we have a lot of

         14  several new initiatives. With specifically being

         15  earmarked to create affordable housing. One is we

         16  have $500 million dollars, which we will utilize

         17  over five years from HDC's reserves to create a

         18  mixed income model. This is a new construction

         19  model. It will be 20 percent low- income housing

         20  which will be 50 percent of the median which is

         21  $32,000 for a family of four. Thirty percent will be

         22  100 percent of the median which is $62,000 and 50

         23  percent will be market. So, you basically have a

         24  model here that has a much larger affordability

         25  component than the previous 80/20 model.
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          2                 We are going to be very aggressive in

          3  marketing this. We had reached out to many of you.

          4  Many developers, be they private or not- for- profit

          5  have approached us. This is just one of many of the

          6  new initiatives which we will start implementing in

          7  July. Another program, I won't use the acronym. It

          8  used to be called 100 Percent Light. And now it's

          9  changed to 100 Percent Lamp. But basically, in a

         10  nutshell, it is a commitment to produce new

         11  construction at 60 -- at a cap of $60,000.00 of

         12  affordability limit. So, excuse me. That's 60

         13  percent of affordability. So, again, this is an

         14  affordable -- a new program with affordability with

         15  financed in part by the HCD reserves.

         16                 Just one other brief one I can

         17  mention. Support of housing. A program that takes

         18  formerly homeless families and singles and puts them

         19  back into permanent rent regulated housing. The

         20  Mayor's housing plan is a commitment of $100 million

         21  dollars for this. This is a very important in

         22  solving the emergency shelter problem. So these are

         23  just three of the initiatives and the indication of

         24  the continued commitment. Back in the late '80's,

         25  there was a $4 billion dollar, ten year plan. Now we
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          2  have a $3 billion dollar, five year plan. And we are

          3  optimistic that working with you, we can continue

          4  and produce a product that will help the citizens of

          5  our City. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Before I ask my

          7  committee members and the Council Members that have

          8  joined us, if they have any questions, let me just

          9  recognize the fact that we've been joined during the

         10  testimony by Council Member Christine Quinn, who's a

         11  member of the committee. Also joining us, Council

         12  Member Mike Nelson, Sarah Gonzalez, David Yassky,

         13  and Bill DeBlasio. Questions from committee members

         14  first. Nope. Christine?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you. With

         16  inclusionary zoning, if you do -- if you do the

         17  housing on site. Let's set aside the off site, for a

         18  second. The concept is basically and tell me if I

         19  have this correct, that you'll get some additional

         20  height or bulk or FAR if you include low- income

         21  housing in the building. You have to say.

         22                 MR. HORNICK: The way the program

         23  works --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Is your mike

         25  on?
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          2                 MR. HORNICK:  I just turned it off.

          3  Okay. I'm sorry. The way the program works is you

          4  get -- there are six different alternatives. You can

          5  do on site or off site, new construction,

          6  renovations, substantial renovations. Anyway. And

          7  there are ratios figured out relative to what the

          8  development rights are roughly speaking estimated to

          9  be worth or what they estimated to be worth back

         10  when the program was adopted. And what it cost to

         11  produce the unit. If it cost less to do a moderate

         12  renovation then it cost to do a market renovation.

         13  And so there are different ratios. They range from

         14  two to one for moderate renovation and place tenants

         15  to afford one for off site, new construction. And so

         16  you can get -- you can choose whichever you want. As

         17  a practical matter virtually all if not all of the

         18  programs have chosen off site options. So, it can be

         19  on site, but it usually isn't.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Do all of the

         21  options, whichever one you pick, lead to the

         22  building getting to have higher bulk or height?

         23                 MR. HORNICK: Yes. You get two

         24  additional -- you get up to two additional FAR --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Regardless.
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          2                 MR. HORNICK: -- Based on those

          3  ratios. So, if you're doing four to one, you get one

          4  feet -- of each feet of low- income housing you

          5  build, you get four feet of market rate.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Now in the plan

          7  the Park Slope rezoning is inclusionary zoning an

          8  option throughout the entirety of the plan or

          9  rezoning area or is it an option in certain parts?

         10                 MS. MYER: The inclusionary housing

         11  program now only applies to the 10 FAR districts.

         12  Those are mostly zoned -- mapped in Manhattan.

         13  There's a small area in downtown Brooklyn where it

         14  would apply. It's never been used in Brooklyn. There

         15  are no 10 FAR districts proposed for Park Slope. The

         16  highest zone that we proposed is a 6 FAR district

         17  along Fourth Avenue. So, the inclusionary housing

         18  program that's voluntary now in the 10 FAR district

         19  can't be applied in the Park Slope rezoning The one

         20  other thing I'd like to add to --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay. That was

         22  brought up more just as an overall context of the --

         23  I misunderstood. Okay.

         24                 MS. MYER: Just touching on one of the

         25  things that Sandy also touched on that I'd like to
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          2  emphasize. Is that in the existing inclusionary

          3  housing program, no subsidy is permitted to be

          4  applied to those low- income units. So the voluntary

          5  program is a very pure program that requires the

          6  developer to really subsidize the low- income units

          7  for the life of those units. I just wanted to make

          8  that clear.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         10                 MS. BURDEN: And I just add this to

         11  get an idea of how it works and the reason it works

         12  principally on the 10 FAR or it's a voluntary. So it

         13  doesn't always happen. Just a recent proposal that

         14  came to us for a 50 story building on the Upper

         15  Eastside would actually throw off approximately ten

         16  to 14 units only. Now that developer would have to

         17  find somebody else who's also doing the same thing

         18  to bundle those units. But the reason it might work

         19  for that developer is he commands such a high rent

         20  on the upper east side for those top floors.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         22                 MS. BURDEN: That's what just makes

         23  the numbers work. His lawyers are arguing against it

         24  because he thinks it will cost too much. That's the

         25  kind of thing and what we're trying to do is
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          2  actually trying to get construction on Fourth

          3  Avenue. And there may be some people in development

          4  community who are testifying today who will talk

          5  about what you need to get construction to

          6  incentivise that. So we believe that the 12 stories

          7  will incentivise that. But any additional burden,

          8  maybe no housing will get built. So that's the

          9  delicate balance.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Can you repeat

         11  that again, Chairperson Burden?

         12                 MS. BURDEN: What I was saying is in

         13  order to actually -- right now nobody is building on

         14  Fourth Avenue.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         16                 MS. BURDEN: To get something -- to

         17  incentivize construction, we believe zoning for 12

         18  stories will actually incentivize construction. If

         19  there were additional burdens put upon that

         20  building, we're afraid that nothing will get built.

         21  And that's a very crucial corridor.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay. Thank

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         25  Katz.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Good morning,

          3  Commissioner, and everyone who has joined us. I

          4  apologize for going in and out during your

          5  testimony. There are several committee meetings --

          6  subcommittee meetings here today. And most of my in

          7  and out is for the next subcommittee as well. So, I

          8  do apologize. But I'm very familiar with the

          9  testimony. We've had a lot of discussions regarding

         10  it. Commissioner Burden, we are -- you are

         11  attempting to up zone on Fourth Avenue in order to,

         12  I assume spur the development of Fourth Avenue. What

         13  is it right now? Right now it's R --

         14                 MS. BURDEN: Right now it's R6. Which

         15  is on a wide street, permits up to three FAR of

         16  development rights.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And my

         18  understanding is a portion of it is R7A as well.

         19                 MS. BURDEN: The portion that is R7A

         20  is north of Union Street. It's between Union and

         21  Warren Street. We rezoned that in the early 1990's.

         22  Frankly, to no avail. There was no development that

         23  occurred under the R7A district. So one of the

         24  things that we did in the proposal was revisit that

         25  density and we decided that the R8A would be a more
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          2  effective way of promoting apartment house

          3  construction on Fourth Avenue.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So when I went

          5  to R7A, basically there was no incentive and no

          6  developers that were willing to build the housing at

          7  that bulk.

          8                 MS. BURDEN: One Kentucky Fried

          9  Chicken was developed in the past decade.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: That could be

         11  very useful in  -- I could use it right about now.

         12  All right. So, this is really to spur the

         13  development on the avenues and limit the development

         14  on the side streets in order to keep the

         15  neighborhood the pristine area the Park Slope is.

         16  Okay. Mr. Rosenberg. HPD went through a whole litany

         17  of affordable housing incentives and programs that

         18  you have to offer. We appreciate that. As you know,

         19  the discussions around this project has been for

         20  affordable housing and the members who represent the

         21  area are extremely concerned. Councilwoman Gonzalez,

         22  Councilman DeBlasio, Councilman Yassky about

         23  affordable housing in this area. One of the things

         24  that I understand is that if we increase it to R8A,

         25  and then there is at least some opportunity to have
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          2  affordable housing. But perhaps, Mr. Rosenberg, can

          3  go over in detail what HPD has in store for this

          4  area. The opportunities that you are presenting to

          5  the community and perhaps the amount of money that

          6  HPD is willing to put aside to invest.

          7                 MR. ROSENBERG: Certainly.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Before you answer

          9  that, I just have to interrupt. I'm sorry to do

         10  this. But there was a person who was signed up to

         11  speak. She was here this morning. Ann Fizzy

         12  (phonetic). She apparently is very ill and she was

         13  here with some people. She wants to be taken home.

         14  If there's anybody here that came with her, we

         15  appreciate you seeing the Sergeant of Arms in the

         16  back. Nobody? She said she was here for this

         17  meeting. I don't know. We're just trying to find out

         18  now. I'm sorry.

         19                 MR. ROSENBERG: That's okay. Well,

         20  certainly. We have a blend of programs that we are

         21  confident will bring affordability to this area. But

         22  we are willing to commit $6 million dollars of our

         23  new directed fund or redirected funds from the

         24  Mayor's housing plan towards the development of

         25  affordable housing in this Park Slope rezoning area.
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          2  These funds which would be derived from the broad

          3  spectrum of programs that are under the Mayor's new

          4  housing plan, some of which I mentioned briefly,

          5  would create approximately 133 affordable units over

          6  the next five years. And we expect them to leverage

          7  approximately $16 million dollars in private funds.

          8  These would be made available over the next five

          9  years to developers building within the rezoning

         10  area on this time frame. It would be available to

         11  developers on a first come, first serve basis. Since

         12  this is the first rezoning initiative under the

         13  Bloomberg Administration, we expect a great many

         14  developers both on the for profit and not- for-

         15  profit side to come to us and we've actually already

         16  spoken to two. One from each side. The not- for-

         17  profit and the for profit sector.

         18                 One thing I just have to caution and

         19  we're willing to put this in writing is that we will

         20   -- this is subject to availability. And by

         21  availability, I mean, we have to see what the fiscal

         22  situation is in the next coming years. By all means,

         23  this is a commitment that we intend to make. But if

         24  there are direr circumstances dealing with the

         25  federal or the state or the City budget, that's just
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          2  something I have to caution everyone on. But the

          3  commitment for the $6 million is there.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And the

          5  commitment for the $6 million will last over the

          6  next five years. It will be available to the

          7  community?

          8                 MR. ROSENBERG: Yes, that's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Can the

         10  committee get that in writing?

         11                 MR. ROSENBERG: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Today, tomorrow

         13   --

         14                 MR. ROSENBERG: Yes, we can.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: -- Before the

         16  vote.

         17                 MR. ROSENBERG: That's correct. When

         18  the -- certainly, we can start working on that as

         19  soon as the hearing concludes here.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

         21                 MR. ROSENBERG: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I think,

         23  Christine, you had a follow up question.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         25  Commissioner Rosenberg, can you just tell us a
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          2  little bit how will that $6 million dollars -- is

          3  that the right amount? $6 million?

          4                 MR. ROSENBERG: I'm sorry. $6 million,

          5  yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: How will that

          7   -- how will that work? So a developer steps forward

          8  and says, you know, I'd like to utilize this money

          9  to develop affordable housing? Is there -- take us

         10  through the process --

         11                 MR. ROSENBERG: Sure.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: -- If you will,

         13  of how that works. What do they have to do to

         14  qualify, et cetera, et cetera.

         15                 MR. ROSENBERG: Well, we have a

         16  tremendous menu of options. If it is an owner that

         17  has a vacant property, we can look at the new

         18  construction models that are financed in part by HDC

         19  reserves which could lead to the 60 percent median

         20  income construction model. If the developer wants to

         21  do something that approaches perhaps more of a

         22  market level, we would have that other program I

         23  talked about which is the new Hot Mod which would

         24  have the very low 20 percent component and the 30

         25  percent median. But if they own a -- if they have a
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          2  store on the ground floor, but have vacant units

          3  that have been sealed for whatever reason, the new

          4  J51 initiative that was passed, that was Intro 282A,

          5  would be an example. If they're interested in doing

          6  a supportive housing model for a recent immigrant

          7  population or other folks in the area, we could

          8  certainly work with that. That would be for very

          9  low- income families. If it is a straight

         10  rehabilitation loan program, we have under our

         11  existing statutes which we've used for many years.

         12  All of which are going to receive a lot of financing

         13  under the five year plan.

         14                 We could provide rehabilitation

         15  loans, enter into a regulatory agreement which

         16  requires that the property be kept as affordable

         17  housing for the full length of the regulatory

         18  agreement which is 30 years. It's a force of

         19  mechanism that has worked very often. These are just

         20  five or six of the ways we would do it. But, we

         21  would urge people who own property who are

         22  interested in providing housing in this area, to

         23  approach us. And we have been very aggressive in

         24  performing an outreach to trade organizations,

         25  developers, not- for- profit institutions, work with
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          2  many of your many colleagues to inform them. To give

          3  them as many of the options here as possible. So,

          4  the word menu of options tend to be overused and I

          5  apologize. But those of you who are familiar with

          6  the agency understand that we have every -- we have

          7  something that suits everyone.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Would you say

          9  that --

         10                 MS. BURDEN: I was just going to add

         11  that HPD and HDC has volunteered to actually have

         12  housing. We could co- sponsor a housing forum in the

         13  Park Slope neighborhood or other neighborhoods where

         14  there's rezoning. Really just to make the

         15  development community both not- for- profit and for

         16  profit totally aware of the programs. Because they

         17  are new. We are eager to get the word out to

         18  maximize the chance that development community would

         19  really take these options. And it would be great for

         20  them. Because it would cut their risk and help the

         21  public, too.

         22                 MR. ROSENBERG: I'd like to -- just to

         23  add on that. We've done a lot of educational

         24  outreach, a lot of approaches in the Council

         25  districts, this is, of course, something -- this is

                                                            34

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  something that has worked tremendously obtaining the

          3  interest of a population that often hasn't come to

          4  us.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Would 30 years

          6   -- you mentioned that there would be a 30 year

          7  commitment to the affordability level in the last

          8  example you gave. Would that be true if a developer

          9  was to take one of the other options than the time

         10  frame, I mean?

         11                 MR. ROSENBERG: The 30 year regulatory

         12  agreements are usually through our low- interest

         13  rehabilitation loan programs. If it's a tax

         14  incentive program like 421A, you have a -- the

         15  commitment is for the term of the exemption. And the

         16  tax incentive if you do a 20 percent low- income

         17  model on new construction of 421A. It's a 20 year

         18  requirement of affordability. But, we ensure that if

         19  you are going to get financing from the City either

         20  through direct capital, monies or through tax

         21  incentives, there has to be a long- term commitment

         22  to ensure that the product is affordable.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Is 20 typically

         24  the shortest of the long- term commitments, so to

         25  speak?
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          2                 MR. ROSENBERG: On the affordable end,

          3  I believe so. On 421A, if you have a 20 percent on

          4  site low- income units, you have a 20 percent tax

          5  exemption. On the J51 model, which I talked about --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right, right.

          7                 MR. ROSENBERG: -- That's a 34 year.

          8  So that's even longer than the regulatory agreements

          9  through our rehab loan programs.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Then they

         11  become rent regulated?

         12                 MR. ROSENBERG: Excuse me.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Then what

         14  happens after the period runs out? Do they become

         15  rent regulated?

         16                 MR. ROSENBERG: I think so. This is an

         17  issue that came up. I'm not positive. I would have

         18  to check with you on that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

         20                 MR. ROSENBERG: Because they're rent

         21  regulated during the term of the agreement. I

         22  believe on the tax incentive approach, if they're

         23  newly constructed, perhaps they're not. But with the

         24  rehabilitation models, I'm almost positive that they

         25  continue to be rent regulated if they were built
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          2  quite a while ago and it's not generally a new

          3  construction model.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Just one last

          5  question. On the housing that would be created with

          6  the $6 million -- actually I have two. It's all on

          7  site or could it be off site?

          8                 MR. ROSENBERG: We would like for on

          9  site.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And then the

         11  units that would be built with the $6 million

         12  dollars, would there be the requirement that they be

         13  identical to the other units in the building that

         14  they have the same cabinets --

         15                 MR. ROSENBERG: Oh, yes, yes. We --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: The same

         17  toilets, et cetera.

         18                 MR. ROSENBERG: Yes. This is something

         19  that we've always been very clear about at the

         20  outset when we first developed the 421A program and

         21  we had the 20 percent low- income component. The

         22  apartments had to be identical. There could not be

         23  any implication of a class segregation whatsoever.

         24  And always been fully incorporated into the models.

         25  So, one neighbor would not know particularly what
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          2  the next one might make because the apartments would

          3  both be stunning.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, they would

          5  be scattered throughout the building.

          6                 MR. ROSENBERG: Yes, that's correct.

          7  If that's the model that someone chooses, for

          8  instance, yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         10                 MR. ROSENBERG: Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         14  Bill DeBlasio.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chairman. I have a couple of comments and a

         17  couple of questions. I just wanted to sort of

         18  reflect for a brief moment on the fact that it's

         19  been now a number of months of discussions. I think

         20  world winded activity, you could say, in the

         21  community, in the Council, between the Council and

         22  Administration, et cetera. I want to start on a very

         23  positive note. And these are never easy issues. I

         24  think I'm not the expert that the folks at the table

         25  are. But, I think we can all say as a civilians that
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          2  trying to figure out land use in New York City is by

          3  its very definition complex and charged and defies

          4  any easy solutions. So, I want to thank literally

          5  everyone who has been involved. Because it has been

          6  a long and difficult process, but what I've seen

          7  throughout the process is everyone grappling with

          8  these issues. In many ways, motivated most by

          9  philosophy and that's kind of the way it should be

         10  in life and I think there's been some honest

         11  philosophical disagreements. But they've been

         12  honorable and they've been respectful. I especially

         13  want to thank the folks here in the Council who I

         14  think have played a very, very positive role in

         15  helping us find our way to a point of some

         16  consensus. I want to thank our Chair of the Land Use

         17  Committee, Melinda Katz and Chair of the

         18  Subcommitte, Tony Avella, and just on behalf of the

         19  people at Park Slope, thank you very much for how

         20  much time and energy you put into this issue. And I

         21  especially want to thank Speaker Miller who I think

         22  has really worked with us shoulder to shoulder to

         23  find a solution that works for our community and his

         24  commitment both to good planning and to affordable

         25  housing have been evident throughout. And the staff
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          2  of the Land Use Division, especially the tireless

          3  Gail Benjamin (phonetic), we want to thank you for

          4  your -- I feel like you were full- time on this one

          5  issue. I know you had another 20 others. And on the

          6  group here that have been working together, Council

          7  Member Sarah Gonzalez, Councilman David Yassky and

          8  myself and our staffs.

          9                 I really want to thank our staffs

         10  also have put in an extraordinary effort. I want to

         11  thank everyone at the table. We appreciate the

         12  opportunities we have to meet and we appreciate the

         13  creativity that you brought to the process as

         14  evidence by the proposal that was just outlined. And

         15  finally, for thanking everyone in the world, a lot

         16  of the folks sitting there who are going to testify

         17  shortly. I want to particular thank the Fifth Avenue

         18  Committee and the Acorn and some of the other groups

         19  that have really helped us to think about the best

         20  ways to achieve affordable housing. And I want to

         21  thank Community Board 6 and the Park Slope Civic

         22  Council and while folks feel very strongly as I do

         23  about the many good elements of this rezoning.

         24                 Simple statement. We, I think, have

         25  actually been united from day one on a lot of what
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          2  this rezoning is about. And we've said that. And

          3  everyone said that to each other publicly and

          4  privately. Fourth Avenue is an area that deserves to

          5  be developed and I thank you for your leadership in

          6  making that happen. I say that to everyone here on

          7  the panel. Protecting our residential blocks is a

          8  very valuable step forward and something long

          9  overdue. I thank you for that as well. Again, we've

         10  had, I think respectful philosophical differences on

         11  how to best use the variety of tools available to

         12  create affordable housing and in fact, about the

         13  role of the planning process. These are the other

         14  policies imperatives such as the creation of

         15  affordable housing.

         16                 I think in the proposal that's put

         17  forward today, we have a very good faith effort by

         18  the Administration to respond to our concerns in the

         19  hearing now. We may not entirely agree on what could

         20  have been. But, that's okay. That's part of the

         21  nature of government. And of two branches of

         22  government. I am very heartened and very

         23  appreciative of the speakers commitment to work with

         24  the whole Council going forward and with the

         25  Administration, to try to take some of the ideas
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          2  that came up in this debate and work cooperatively

          3  to shape them into even stronger affordable housing

          4  programs going forward.

          5                 I think some of the ideas around

          6  zoning bonuses are very, very promising. I think the

          7  timeline here created legitimate difficulties. We

          8  won't have that problem. Any of us won't have that

          9  problem going forward. We'll have the time to look

         10  at everything in the cool light of day. And I'm very

         11  heartened to think of what we could do with the very

         12  powerful new ideals that the Mayor has put forward

         13  in the last month with the capable and effective

         14  programs that you've had over the years and perhaps

         15  with some of these new approaches as well. Of how we

         16  could blend that altogether for the future

         17  throughout our City.

         18                 I just want to conclude the comment

         19  by saying and I just have a couple quick questions.

         20  I want to conclude the comment by saying I do very

         21  much appreciate what was put on the table today. I

         22  think it's an act of good faith towards our

         23  community. We obviously want to talk through the

         24  details after this meeting and make sure we fully

         25  understand it. But it's the kind of step that I
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          2  think brings together the range of feelings of good

          3  well that were exhibited in this process and puts

          4  them into a coherent hold. So, I thank you for that.

          5    Very quickly to understand, Mr. Rosenberg, I

          6  guess.

          7                 MR. ROSENBERG: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Commissioner

          9  Rosenberg. Deputy Commissioner Rosenberg.

         10                 MR. ROSENBERG: Yeah.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Got to get

         12  my titles right. On the question of what I would

         13  call the durability of the funding --

         14                 MR. ROSENBERG: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: I

         16  appreciated the honest statement about we don't know

         17  what the world may bring budgetarily. But I want to

         18  probe just a little bit on this. We all know that

         19  there's some funding that is very sacred and some

         20  that's less sacred. Some things even in the most

         21  dire moments are not going to be cut. Whether

         22  they're just so essential to the life of the City or

         23  because any Administration that happens to be in

         24  power feels one of their profound priorities. And

         25  that's absolutely appropriate. Every Administration
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          2  is elected. Can you give us a sense of where this is

          3  in the pecking order? We know there is going to be

          4  budgetary hard times for years to come. How durable

          5  is the commitment to make sure this does not get

          6  washed away with other difficult choices that have

          7  to be made?

          8                 MR. ROSENBERG: If I can just contrast

          9  this to some other fiscal issues. I mean we all

         10  understand the fiscal crisis that is being faced by

         11  the City. But even with that in mind, I want to

         12  remind everyone that knowing that there is a

         13  difficult fiscal situation, the Mayor is determined

         14  that there would be a $3 billion plan over five

         15  years in December. So this is not a plan that was

         16  announced a year and a half ago. It was out there

         17  before people realized perhaps the severity of the

         18  crisis. This is a very strong commitment and it is

         19  perhaps one of the broadest and most resolute

         20  commitment we have at this point. The reason I said

         21  subject to availability is because I, like no one

         22  else in this room, we can't predicate what is ahead.

         23  We're looking for a lot of relief from Albany, from

         24  other entities. So I really just said that as a

         25  cautionary note. We do intend to pursue the $5
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          2  billion plan -- the $3 billion plan. I don't want to

          3  raise it $2 billion dollars. The $3 billion plan.

          4  We're ready to go. We have identified lots of

          5  opportunities. But by subject to availability, it's

          6  just a cautionary note. Because we don't know

          7  specifically what lies ahead financially. I mean, as

          8  you know we're looking for a lot of relief from

          9  Albany. From other entities. But again this really

         10  is a commitment that we are going through with. And

         11  the Mayor has been very aggressive and very vocal in

         12  indicating how important this housing issue is to

         13  him.

         14                 We just, as you know, we just passed

         15   -- you just passed a law indicating that there's

         16  still an affordable housing crisis back on April 1.

         17  So, it's really quite important to the future

         18  employment opportunities in the City. We realize

         19  that housing revitalizes neighborhoods, creates

         20  employment opportunities. It not just done in a

         21  vacuum.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: I appreciate

         23  that answer because one way that could be

         24  interrupted is to so this is under the umbrella of

         25  something that is a profound priority initiative.
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          2  Almost a signature issue if you will, for the Mayor,

          3  which is his housing initiative. Just trying to say,

          4  I guess if you said to me that the Park Slope

          5  rezoning is one of the most important things that

          6  you're doing on the land use front certainly, and

          7  the affordable housing program is one of the Mayor's

          8  most important issues of his entire administration

          9  and you put those two thoughts together, you could

         10  say this will be -- have a very high place on the

         11  pecking order going forward. So I'm just looking to

         12  say -- is it fair to say that this becomes a high

         13  priority within that $3 billion so that if cuts have

         14  to be made, it's not the first one on the chopping

         15  block?

         16                 MR. ROSENBERG: It is a very high

         17  priority. As I mentioned previously, we think that

         18  the rezoned areas are absolutely imperative as a

         19  source for housing production especially affordable

         20  housing production. We're excited by the

         21  opportunities that rezoning presents. Especially

         22  along the Fourth Avenue corridor.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: A couple of

         24  other quick questions. You mentioned the leveraging

         25  amount. I just couldn't hear you well. What do you
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          2  think the leveraging amount will be and could you

          3  just describe a little bit how you see it playing

          4  out? How this $6 million will be utilized to create

          5  the amount of leverage that you talked about?

          6                 MR. ROSENBERG: We're looking at a $6

          7  million dollar City commitment and we believe it

          8  will leverage $16 million dollars. I will --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: One six?

         10                 MR. ROSENBERG: One six. $16 million

         11  dollars in private funds. So, with the $6 million

         12  plus $16 million in private funds, that's a

         13  significant amount of capital. We used to have to go

         14  this alone. There was a time when we were the only

         15  entity investing in certain neighborhoods. So any

         16  production had to be 100 percent City financed. This

         17  was quite a while ago. And luckily, with the

         18  revitalization of a lot of neighborhoods in New York

         19  City, that's changed. I don't have the specific

         20  calculations or analysis on why we believe the $6

         21  million will leverage $16 million. That was done by

         22  a relatively large crew of number crunchers or

         23  colleagues of mine. But, we find that this is an

         24  area where we expect growth, where we expect

         25  interest and we expect investment. We're confident
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          2  that we can reach that number.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Presuming

          4  all of this moves forward, we obviously intend to be

          5  your partners in ensuring that this is implemented

          6  aggressively and positively. And has the biggest

          7  possible impact. And we take it upon ourselves to

          8  work very hard in the community. I think that's the

          9  act of good faith we have to take responsibility

         10  for. But I do think it's important that we do

         11  understand how the number crunchers came up with

         12  that. Because that will help guide us in the work we

         13  need to do with you on the ground.

         14                 MR. ROSENBERG: Certainly.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Two other

         16  questions. On the flexibility levels of the funding.

         17  I think I heard you say that the whole "menu" of

         18  options that you currently have including the new

         19  proposals the Mayor has put on the table, City wide,

         20  all of those could be tappable under the $6 million.

         21  Would you include any new initiatives that HPD

         22  worked to develop? In other words, if you came up in

         23  six months with a brand new approach to affordable

         24  housing, that could be included in this as a menu

         25  item?

                                                            48

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2                 MR. ROSENBERG: Absolutely. The

          3  housing situation has changed. Like I said from

          4  vacant and in rem stock, new opportunities, new

          5  challenges. We are constantly looking and tinkering

          6  with what has worked and what is now needed. If we

          7  develop any new initiatives, we will -- and we have

          8  confidence in them, certainly. We would love to test

          9  them in this market and in this specific rezoned

         10  area. Absolutely.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Thank you.

         12  And lastly, I know that one of the most active

         13  private firms in terms of Fourth Avenue is the

         14  Shibee (phonetic) Company and I've had a very good

         15  relationship with Mr. Vernal Green (phonetic) and I

         16  think he is concerned to do what he can for the

         17  community in addition to what he does in his private

         18  work. Specifically related to his Second Street site

         19  on Fourth Avenue, have you had discussions with him

         20  about that site and about what could be done to

         21  create affordable housing there? And could you talk

         22  about it?

         23                 MR. ROSENBERG: I have not personally

         24  meet with him. Several of my colleagues, I think two

         25  of them, fellow Deputy Commissioners have met with
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          2  him to indicate to him what opportunities are

          3  available there. I believe the discussions with him

          4  are on going. He has an interest and we want to

          5  continue meeting with him. As other folks have had

          6  interest too. But we intend to talk to him and give

          7  him a sense of what is available, what options are

          8  there, what new programs are there. It's a

          9  continuing dialogue.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Well, it's

         11  obviously a high priority for us. We think it's one

         12  of the most promising opportunities to create

         13  affordability given his track record. And we would

         14  encourage you to continue those conversations and to

         15  please report to us as soon as possible if you see

         16  some specifics coming out of them.

         17                 MR. ROSENBERG: We will let you know

         18  and we agree with your assessment. There's a

         19  wonderful opportunity here especially regarding his

         20  properties.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Thank you

         22  all very much. And thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         24  David Yassky.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you very
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          2  much. I won't list everyone that Bill did. But I

          3  want to thank Bill for thanking on behalf of myself

          4  and for Council Member Gonzalez as well. This I

          5  think is just an extraordinarily important

          6  initiative. I thank frankly for the entire City, but

          7  obviously in particular for the district that I

          8  represent. It's an initiative that's very much to

          9  the good and so I'm very gratified that's moving

         10  forward successfully. I just want to start by

         11  thanking you for an enormous amount of work went

         12  into putting this together. So, I want to thank you

         13  for that. This rezoning really has two parts the way

         14  I see it. There's a rezoning to protect the

         15  Brownstone areas of Park Slope against

         16  overdevelopment. That hasn't gotten much discussion

         17  today because it's not controversial. But I do want

         18  to bring the committee members attention to that as

         19  well and voice my strong support. I know my

         20  colleagues represent the area also strongly support

         21  that. I think that's the entire community that has

         22  been involved here. It's been very actively pursing

         23  it. It's a very good thing. I want to thank you for

         24  it. And I'm delighted to see that part moving

         25  forward.
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          2                 The second part, of course, is the

          3  upzoning of Fourth Avenue which has received more of

          4  the attention over the past couple months. And

          5  there, to, there's no question the development of

          6  Fourth Avenue is a good thing. This is an area that

          7  needs -- desperately needs housing. And I do believe

          8  that the rezoning -- I honestly think that the

          9  estimate of 1,000 or 1,100 units is an under

         10  assessment, not for environmental purposes. But I

         11  think the way I see the neighborhood going, frankly,

         12  I think that you're going to see maybe 1,500, 2,000

         13  apartments built there over the five to eight years.

         14  I think that is a very, very good thing. It's part

         15  really of this Administration's, I think, historic

         16  commitment to housing. And I want to commend, I

         17  guess in particular, Deputy Commissioner Rosenberg,

         18  since this is your department. But really the whole

         19  Administration.

         20                 The last time I worked in City

         21  government before I joined the Council, Ed Koch was

         22  Mayor. And I worked on the billion dollars of

         23  housing that went into housing such to that time.

         24  And really not since then, I think, have we had a

         25  Mayor who's genuinely committed to easing the City's

                                                            52

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  housing crisis. I think we're very fortunate that

          3  the Mayor has chosen to devote his attention to

          4  that. And direct you to devote your attention to

          5  that.

          6                 I think this rezoning and the other

          7  seven rezonings that the Mayor discussed in his

          8  Abney (phonetic) speech, I think have the potential

          9  really to generate tens of thousands of new

         10  apartment that are desperately needed by New

         11  Yorkers. And it's my hope that you and the

         12  Administration and the Council will be able to

         13  accomplish that entire program as speedily as

         14  possible. I do believe that there is a very

         15  fundamental policy issue that does -- that is raised

         16  by these rezoning. And as Bill said, I think where

         17  we're going to end up on Park Slope is a good thing.

         18  I think, nonetheless, could be better. Here's where

         19  we are today and I'm happy with it. But as we move

         20  forward and the future rezonings come down, I do

         21  think it's worth at least I want to state my

         22  position. That I do believe that in areas that are

         23  being rezoned, where we're going to be creating a

         24  1,000, 1,500, however many apartments it is, we need

         25  to do everything possible to make sure that some of
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          2  those apartments are affordable to New Yorkers of

          3  ordinary means.

          4                 I think there's a fundamental policy

          5  difference. Mr. Hornick said before, we have a huge

          6  housing shortage. Agreed. The way to deal with that

          7  shortage is to build more apartments. And I guess

          8  and I don't know if you meant that as a complete

          9  remedy. But I do not feel that's a complete remedy.

         10  Because we know, that left to it's own devices, the

         11  market will provide apartments for affluent families

         12  and not for families of low and moderate incomes. I

         13  do believe that government policy is necessary to

         14  push development in that direction. I think a

         15  terrific model here, honestly, is Riverside South.

         16  That's the last time that the City tackled a major

         17  under- used piece of -- a huge chunk of under- used

         18  land, promoted residential development there. And

         19  did it in a way where the zoning actually required

         20  that ten to 20 percent -- it was kind of a sliding

         21  scale depending on other factors. Ten to 20 percent

         22  of the apartments built in Riverside South were

         23  required to be available to low and moderate income

         24  families. A great model. And it's working.

         25                 I would like to see -- I would have
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          2  like to seen that model here in Park Slope. I do

          3  believe that's a good model to pursue in the future.

          4  And I very much look forward to continuing to work

          5  with you on developing the tools necessary to

          6  accomplish that. My main question, I just want to

          7  echo what Council Member DeBlasio was saying about

          8  your commitment to provide $6 million dollars

          9  specifically for Park Slope. I understand you said,

         10  you know, that's available barring budge crises or

         11  dire circumstances. Obviously, we are in the middle

         12  of dire circumstances and facing an ongoing crisis.

         13  I know that you meant -- I don't mean to say that

         14  was not a commitment. Of course, it is and I

         15  appreciate it. I guess I just want to make sure I

         16  understood before that this is -- Bill kind of

         17  raised this, that if it becomes necessary to trim

         18  the Administration's housing program, which one

         19  could see it possibly becoming necessary to do given

         20  the circumstance we face, that this won't be first

         21  on the list. And indeed, I'm not going to say it

         22  should be last on the list. But at least it would

         23  receive parity with the rest of the program.

         24                 MR. ROSENBERG: That's correct. As I

         25  said, the next large source of affordable housing is
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          2  in the rezoning areas. And we understand the

          3  importance of this.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And my --

          5                 MR. ROSENBERG: And just to indicate,

          6  this commitment is specifically in the rezoned area.

          7  Not other areas of Park Slope by -- I'm not sure if

          8  I clarified that. But the commitment is exclusively

          9  for the rezoned area.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. And my

         11  only other question is, I believe that you may need

         12  more flexibility in administering those funds than

         13  is available even under your very, very creative new

         14  programs. And here's what I mean. If I work out the

         15  math, $6 million dollars, 133 -- I'm sorry. However

         16  many units you did, works out to about $45,000.00

         17  per unit. Is that --

         18                 MR. ROSENBERG: Yes, I believe the

         19  subsidy contemplative is $45,000.00 per unit.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: $45,000.00 on

         21  a unit.

         22                 MR. ROSENBERG: Yeah.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: It's my belief

         24  that the value to a developer of even a middle-

         25  income apartment is more than $45,000.000 less than
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          2  the market value to a developer of an apartment that

          3  he or she can sell or rent at market rates. We could

          4  go through the numbers to see if that's right or

          5  not. I suppose the markets change daily. But it's my

          6  belief that at the current time and this is based on

          7  having sat down with several folks who are looking

          8  at building in Park Slope and have talked with HPD

          9  about using your available subsidy programs. That

         10  even the new Hot program that you referred to,

         11  doesn't offer a subsidy deep enough to compensate

         12  the developer for the loss in income that the

         13  developer will realize by agreeing to the low-

         14  income conditions.

         15                 MR. ROSENBERG: Don't forget that a

         16  lot of these programs are done hand in hand with tax

         17  incentives as well. There's a series of options here

         18  which, I know, you're aware of. But we can talk

         19  further, certainly.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I just wanted

         21  to say that it's my belief and I guess I hope that

         22  the Department will be flexible if the new Hot

         23  program needs to be adjusted to make it work in this

         24  particular area. My hope is that you'll do that.

         25                 MR. ROSENBERG: And we will, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you

          3  again. And Mr. Chair Avella, and Chair Katz, if

          4  you're still in the room, I want to again personally

          5  thank you for your help in this.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If I may remind

          7  everybody, please if you have to have conversations

          8  in the back, please take it outside so that we can

          9  hear. Council Member Sarah Gonzalez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Thank you.

         11  First of all, I'm not going to repeat everything

         12  that my colleagues said. But you have not had

         13  experience working with me. So, first of all, I want

         14  to thank you. I would like to thank the Speaker who

         15  I know has had commitment and has commitment for

         16  affordable housing in New York City. And it is an

         17  important issue for him and I thank him for that as

         18  well as the committee of Land Use Chair which is

         19  Melinda Katz and Tony Avella. Thank you for having

         20  us and thank you for working with us. But I do want

         21  to say that in my district and I don't want to run

         22  it too long. Immigration, the influx of immigration

         23  is a problem. And it's a good problem because we

         24  have a diverse City and we have a wonderful place to

         25  live. But we're also over crowded. And we definitely
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          2  have a dire need for affordable housing. I know that

          3  this is about rezoning in Park Slope. But in the

          4  future, I hope to work with you so that we can have

          5  some kind of dialogue. We can meet and deal with

          6  different issues pertaining to possibly planning for

          7  affordable housing. I mean, my office is available

          8  to you. My staff and I look forward to that.

          9                 Also, you have an advocate. And I

         10  want you to know that I will work with the community

         11  boards. I will reach out to them. They're very, very

         12  interested in the future of Sunset Park, Red Hook

         13  and so on and so forth. Which you already know

         14  probably District 38. But I have been there 53

         15  years. And I've seen the communities change a lot.

         16  I'm hopeful that I can see a change for the better.

         17  So, I'm depending on you folks. Okay?

         18                 MS. BURDEN: Yes. We look forward to

         19  working with you very much.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you

         22  Commissioner. I appreciate you making the

         23  presentation personally today and for the length of

         24  time that you've taken. Thank you.

         25                 MS. BURDEN: Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: And thank you

          3  Deputy Commissioner Rosenberg. Before we proceed

          4  with the rest of the public hearing, we do have over

          5  20 speakers signed up. I like to take a five minute

          6  break. The Landmarks Subcommittee that is suppose to

          7  start at 11:00, I believe they're moving the hearing

          8  to the 16th floor conference room at 250 Broadway.

          9   -- In favor of then a panel in opposition and then

         10  in favor, et cetera. We are asking that everybody

         11  keep to the two minute clock. If you've heard

         12  somebody speak before you, try not to say the same

         13  things. We do have over 20 speakers. The first panel

         14  is Jerry Armer, Pauline Blake, Richard Bearak, and

         15  Michael Slattery. I don't see Richard. I guess he

         16  didn't come back yet. All right. Please.

         17                 MR. ARMER: Good morning, Chairman

         18  Avella and members of the committee. My name is

         19  Jerry Armer and I'm Chairperson of Community Board

         20  6. And I'm here to present the Community Board's

         21  recommendations. Community Board 6 recognizes and

         22  acknowledges the diverse nature of the Park Slope

         23  housing stock. It ranges from three to four story

         24  multiple dwellings to low- rise Brownstone row

         25  houses. Through appropriate rezoning actions and the
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          2  expansion of the historic district, we have

          3  supported the diverse built form of the Park Slope

          4  community. We have encouraged the instituting of

          5  land use controls that would preserve the character

          6  of the neighborhood and yet provide for growth.

          7                 Over a decade ago, contextual zoning

          8  for Park Slope from Flatbush Avenue to Union Street

          9  was put in place. Since that time, the Park Slope

         10  community and Community Board 6 have been lobbying

         11  for the remainder of the Park Slope community from

         12  Union Street to 14th Street, to have the same type

         13  of protection. During this time that these

         14  protections have not been in place, developers have

         15  been able to build on the midblock buildings that

         16  buildings that are out of character. These new

         17  buildings have overwhelmed their surrounding

         18  buildings.

         19                 The proposed Park Slope rezoning is

         20  the best of both worlds. It allows for significant

         21  residential development on Fourth Avenue that will

         22  be in keeping with the avenue's size, preserves the

         23  low to middle density scale of the blocks along in

         24  Park Slope with an R6B and preserves the commercial

         25  shopping avenues such as Fifth and Seventh Avenue
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          2  with an improved commercial overlay.

          3                 On Fourth Avenue, the proposal is an

          4  R8A which I think you've heard a lot about this

          5  morning. The R8A zoning for Fourth Avenue is not

          6  something that we looked at and agreed to without

          7  considerable discussion and investigation by both

          8  the full board and our Land Use Committee. I'm going

          9  to sort of jump around and keep going. Okay.

         10                 Having an R8A zone on Fourth Avenue,

         11  will allow for greater density of housing and will

         12  remove some of the pressures to overdevelop the low-

         13  rise midblocks where the row houses are. Having an

         14  R8A equivalent building directly adjacent to low-

         15  rise row houses is already in place and works quite

         16  well on Prospect Park West. During our review of the

         17  proposals for Park Slope, we heard a number of ideas

         18  for inclusionary housing on Fourth Avenue. And we

         19  reviewed it and felt that based on our understanding

         20  of the data from the R10I, in place of Manhattan, we

         21  felt that we would rather just stick with the R8A.

         22  In fact, at our January 8, meeting, the full board

         23  voted in favor of the Park Slope rezoning as it is

         24  before you today. The vote was 32 in favor, four

         25  against, and one abstention.
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          2                 The second motion was passed that

          3  night which dealt with the question of affordable

          4  housing which the Board strongly supports.

          5  Currently, Community Board 6 is working with the

          6  Fifth Avenue committee on a project to construct 61

          7  units of affordable housing in the Red Hook

          8  community. These units are to be built on what was

          9  and I should say what currently is privately owned

         10  land which is being turned over to the Fifth Avenue

         11  Committee.

         12                 Community Board 6 recognizes that New

         13  York City as a whole needs to preserve and create

         14  additional opportunities for affordable housing. We

         15  support a more holistic approach that involves

         16  revisiting the policies and programs that determine

         17  how scarce public funds are used in this effort.

         18  Particularly, since the City does not control that

         19  much property anymore. Where affordable housing can

         20  be constructed. Such an important effort cannot and

         21  should not be done within the limited and fixed

         22  constraints of a neighborhood rezoning that is tied

         23  to the ULURP timeclock.

         24                 One last point. The vast majority of

         25  the proposal before you today, over 96 percent is
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          2  supported by the entire community and also supported

          3  by our Council Members. Specifically Councilman

          4  DeBlasio and Councilman Yassky. Our differences are

          5  small. But our commitment to the community is the

          6  same. Even where we disagree, the working

          7  partnership between the community board and our

          8  Council Members has been one where we are able to

          9  discuss the differences and work to find a common

         10  solution. Thank you.

         11                 MS. BLAKE: Chairman Avella, my name

         12  is Pauline Blake. I'm Vice Chair Community Board 6.

         13  And co- chair of the Land Use Committee. And I'm

         14  here to talk, not as a board member today, but as a

         15  resident of Park Slope, to tell you that we have

         16  worked long and hard for changes in Park Slope that

         17  will make that community which is a diverse

         18  community one for which the City can be proud of. We

         19  are aware of the differences that exist. But that's

         20  what makes Park Slope so unique. We are a diverse,

         21  yet unified community. We work through our

         22  differences. And we overcome differences and make

         23  them into priorities that develop and make our

         24  community one of the best in the City.

         25                 We've discussed this proposal for
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          2  very long hours. We've looked at it. We've reviewed

          3  it. We know we have differences. But for the overall

          4  good of all of us in Park Slope, it is imperative

          5  that the plan proceed as we at Community Board 6

          6  have presented it to you. We have worked so hard for

          7  all the issues that have been brought out in this

          8  discussion in housing. I am one that believes in

          9  housing for all kinds. For the poor, the elderly,

         10  and for those who are looking as inclusionary and

         11  affordable. We'll, let's look at all housing. We as

         12  a City, we as a community needs to take time to look

         13  at our community as a whole. And to plan housing

         14  stock that meets all the variables within our

         15  community. To tag this discussion on this proposal

         16  will be an injustice, I feel, to my community at

         17  large. You see, to discuss it, we must have all the

         18  players at the table. We can't have some and leave

         19  others out. And so, I thank you for giving us this

         20  opportunity. Thank you.

         21                 MR. BEARAK: My name is Richard

         22  Bearak. I'm Deputy Director of Planning and

         23  Development for Brooklyn Borough President, Marty

         24  Markowitz. I'll read his testimony. Good morning

         25  Chairperson Avella and members of the City Council
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          2  Subcommittee for Zoning and Franchises. I am pleased

          3  to have this opportunity to comment on the

          4  Department of City Planning's Park Slope rezoning

          5  application.

          6                 There is no question that the

          7  Department of City Planning's proposal to

          8  contextually rezone much of Park Slope including

          9  down zoning of a substantial number of blocks, must

         10  be approved by the City Council. Rather the question

         11  is, what should the Council approve for the Fourth

         12  Avenue corridor? And what follow up actions should

         13  be pursued?

         14                 City Planning developed a top- rate

         15  approach towards producing preservation based zoning

         16  for Park Slope. It did so in cooperation with

         17  Community Board 6 and the Park Slope Civic Council.

         18  The preservation component, which is 95 percent of

         19  the overall plan, was brilliantly achieved through

         20  the City Planning's dedication towards achieving the

         21  goals of its community partners. The Council's

         22  approval of the preservation component of the

         23  proposal will prevent further construction of

         24  buildings that conflict with the historic Brownstone

         25  character and scale of Park Slope.
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          2                 However, supporting the application

          3  as is will result in an influx of upper middle-

          4  income residents in the vicinity of Fourth Avenue.

          5  Low and moderate income tenants, if the landlords of

          6  the nonstabilized buildings chose to not take

          7  advantage of the J51 program as spelled out by HPD

          8  will remain vulnerable to displacement because,

          9  again, the housing stock there is primarily too

         10  small to be protected by rent stabilization

         11  regulations.

         12                 Therefore, in the spirit of the

         13  application to increase housing on the seven blocks

         14  of Fourth Avenue, there's an opportunity before you

         15  to allow up to 500 units now on sites ready to be

         16  developed between President and Fifth Street. The

         17  real estate market is strong at these locations as

         18  demonstrated by the development proceeding even with

         19  the R6 zoning. Therefore, I recommend you adopt 8A

         20  for these blocks. And I would urge developers to

         21  voluntarily include affordable units in these

         22  developments.

         23                 The other blocks have great

         24  potential, provide affordable housing and there was

         25  thoughts of mapping R7A when the recommendation was

                                                            67

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  done and that was before the City's commitment of

          3  the $6 million dollars. And the goal was with

          4  mapping 7A was to deflate the land value so that the

          5  developers would be buying sites at cheaper prices

          6  and in theory could be combined with the $6 million

          7  the City were saving. So, in fact, you can go

          8  further with the development. That was the concept

          9  there. And the idea was above 7A densities, the

         10  additional flow area would be a one to one ratio

         11  between inclusionary units which would basically,

         12  your talking about development cost only, but not

         13  land cost for those units. That was the concept. And

         14  certainly, if a developer wanted to tap into the $6

         15  million dollar pool, even better. That was the

         16  concept that we had.

         17                 The concern we had was that we didn't

         18  think the homeowner, which is the trend that they're

         19  building in Park Slope and in other downtown

         20  Brooklyn areas would break, so that affordable

         21  housing in the program seemed to be rental based

         22  projects. We seemed to have a glitch where $6

         23  million may not address developers who want to

         24  continue building homeownership products. So, the

         25  concern was that if we just up zone, that land
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          2  owners make substantial profits and the public

          3  doesn't receive any of the benefit. That was just a

          4  concept there.

          5                 I thank you for the opportunity to

          6  testify.

          7                 MR. SLATTERY: Thank you. I submitted

          8  a testimony and I won't go into all those items that

          9  are raised there. Let me just highlight a few

         10  points. And well as reflect the conversation this

         11  morning with the Administration. We support the

         12  proposal because it really doubles the density on

         13  Fourth Avenue which would likely produce 440 new

         14  units of housing compared to 220 before. The context

         15  for our support has been the steady decline in new

         16  housing production in the '60's. In 1960, we were

         17  producing 35,000 units a year on average. The '70's,

         18  we were down to 16,000, the '80's, we were down to

         19  11,000, and the '90's, we were producing 8,000 a

         20  year. This is on a housing stock of 2.9 million

         21  which means that we're producing about one third of

         22  one percent of new housing relative to stock every

         23  year. This really highlights our need for renovation

         24  incentives as well.

         25                 Housing should be a major criteria
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          2  when evaluating new zoning applications. And here we

          3  should always look to maximum housing production. I

          4  think this proposal does this on Fourth Avenue.

          5  Brooklyn Community Board 6 is a growing district

          6  with over 46,000 households and up to 7.6 percent --

          7  up 7.6 percent since 1990. However, in the years

          8  between 1990 and '91, beside that household growth,

          9  we saw less than 300 new dwelling units built. Even

         10  strong, stable and growing community like Park Slope

         11  is not immune to the problems that affect housing

         12  production City wide.

         13                 We know there has been some

         14  suggestions about inclusionary housing as I think

         15  was pointed out. Inclusionary housing only works in

         16  those strong neighborhoods in Manhattan. And that

         17  they have not been successful outside of those

         18  locations. We know there's a strong desire to

         19  produce middle class housing. However, we think the

         20  proposal put forward today which is a financing

         21  mechanism, we think is the best and most suitable

         22  way to achieve that end. We did look at a couple of

         23  analysis that were done before to show that and

         24  mandated affordable housing proposal works. We

         25  thought those analyses were both seriously flawed.
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          2  And didn't agree with the conclusion.

          3                 In the end, I think we would like to

          4  see more housing production. We'd like to see if it

          5  needs to be affordability component that more

          6  financing and assistance be provided to make that

          7  affordable. And we're here to support this proposal.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 MR. ARMER: Chairman Avella, in my

         10  rush to get through. I just forgot to say two

         11  things. I'd like to specifically thank the City

         12  Planning Commission and the Department of City

         13  Planning for finally completing 12 years so we don't

         14  have to wait much longer. Oh, I didn't realize.

         15  Okay. It's been a long time in waiting. And I'd like

         16  to just thank them. And I'd like to echo something

         17  that was said earlier. I'd like to thank the staff,

         18  Land Use staff of the Council and Gail who I have

         19  worked with on a number of different occasions for a

         20  number of years. More than either of us would like

         21  to think and talk about. But I know she does an

         22  excellent job and I know what she did on this. So,

         23  thank you. Both City Planning and the staff.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you. Next

         25  panel. Ronald Shiffman, Les Bluestone, Martha
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          2  Marquez, Gretchen Maneval.

          3                 MR. SHIFFMAN: My name is Ronald

          4  Shiffman. I am a long time resident of Park Slope

          5  and I spent six years on the City Planning

          6  Commission. I am presently the Director of the Pratt

          7  Center for Community Environmental Development. I

          8  really want to applaud Commissioner Burden and

          9  Deputy Commissioner Rosenberg and the others who

         10  presented on behalf of the City. I think putting

         11  forward today a new initiative around how to achieve

         12  affordability in the area was quite a step forward.

         13                 However, and as Amanda will remember,

         14  I always have a however when I say something nice.

         15  The menu of options they provide, provides no

         16  guarantee that those options will be utilized in the

         17  area that is directly affected by the rezoning. And

         18  I want to preface my comments before I get into all

         19  this by saying that I really applaud this proposal.

         20  I think the preservation of the upper Slope. I think

         21  the rezoning of Fourth Avenue is long overdue.

         22  However, I think there was -- if one takes a look at

         23  how this took place, we were very considerate of the

         24  needs in the Upper Slope where I live which is of a

         25  much higher income community than that in the Lower
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          2  Slope. We never took into account the fact that we

          3  were basically taking away from many of the

          4  developers who own property in the northern Slope,

          5  the right to develop more units. We were taking away

          6  from them and from the City those added units. We

          7  did that for a very valid reason. And that valid

          8  reason was to preserve the architectural heritage

          9  and the quality of that community.

         10                 At the same time, however, when we go

         11  to Fourth Avenue where we have the highest

         12  concentration of low and moderate income families

         13  and the highest concentration of people of color,

         14  there we require the advocates on their behalf to

         15  show us all the financial performers. And show us

         16  the burden that is going to be put on the developers

         17  who as, Mr. Slattery said, will now have twice the

         18  option -- twice the amount of FAR to build on their

         19  property. So here we're giving a windfall to

         20  developers. But we're not willing to exact from them

         21  a commitment for affordability. And what I'm

         22  basically arguing for is that inclusionary zoning

         23  and I believe and I have looked at the numbers and

         24  I've been involved in the development of over 20,000

         25  units in my 40 years of experience. I believe that
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          2  the numbers run by the Fifth Avenue Committee are

          3  quite accurate. And they are doable. The difference

          4  is the political will of the City and the fact -- I

          5  would go a bit further than the Fifth Avenue

          6  Committee, is that I would mandate that there be

          7  inclusion on Fourth Avenue because without that

          8  mandate, we will not see these units or the $6

          9  million that the City is now offering for subsidies.

         10  We will not see that implemented in this community.

         11                 And let's face it, for better or

         12  worse, the City has no planning policy. It's

         13  planning policy and it's major tool has been zoning.

         14  We need to develop new tools in order to deal with

         15  the inequities in the market place. Otherwise, and

         16  unless we do that, this City is going to become a

         17  hyper segregated City. I urge you all to read my

         18  more extended testimony. Because one of the reasons

         19  I moved 34 years ago into this neighborhood is

         20  because I rejected the homogenization of the

         21  suburbs. I, and many other families, wanted to move

         22  into a community that was socially, economically,

         23  and racially integrated. And what is occurring

         24  because of the market place is that today is

         25  becoming a more segregated and a more divided
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          2  community.

          3                 We need new tools and many of them

          4  were put on the table today. There were the

          5  financial tools. But what we need to do today and

          6  what I'm urging the City Council to do is to build

          7  that nexus that will require that it be directed to

          8  the communities where people face both primary and

          9  secondary displacement. Thank you.

         10                 MR. BLUESTONE: Thank you. My name is

         11  Les Bluestone. I'm a private developer of low to

         12  middle income housing in the City and have been for

         13  25 years now. I agree with Ron's comments and I'll

         14  make it very short. I think we do need as many tools

         15  as we can get. I'm hoping that none of my developer

         16  friends are in the room with me. I think if left as

         17  is that affordable housing will be a hit or miss

         18  operation. I think the idea of inclusionary housing

         19  is a good one. However, it has to be crafted in a

         20  way that it becomes an incentive, not punitive. And

         21  too many places in this country where there are

         22  inclusionary measures, they're not utilized for just

         23  that reason. I think the idea of up zoning the strip

         24  is a very forward thinking. And as Ron said, is long

         25  overdue and I'm really glad to see its arrival.
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          2                 As far as the numbers and the

          3  configurations, it's very easy to pro form a

          4  inclusionary housing based on a for sale basis. The

          5  numbers looks great. Everything looks very doable.

          6  However, in doing that you tend to have more

          7  displacement of existing people. The idea is to

          8  really craft some very careful language so that it

          9  works on a rental basis as well. So, the developer

         10  will not be forced into one category or the other.

         11  There are plenty of people that may meet the income

         12  requirements for a purchase, but maybe don't have

         13  the cash. And they'll be forced out by default.

         14                 I strongly encourage that you

         15  consider this in the proposal. Thank you.

         16                 MS. MANEVAL: Good morning and thank

         17  you for the opportunity to speak with you today. My

         18  name is Gretchen Maneval. And for the past ten

         19  months, I have been researching the policy tool of

         20  inclusionary zoning for the purpose of drafting my

         21  master's thesis at the Massachusetts Institute of

         22  Technology. I also work in the neighborhood of Park

         23  Slope, but unfortunately cannot afford to live

         24  there. My testimony today is based on studying

         25  precedents of inclusionary zoning around the country
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          2  and reading numerous books and articles on the topic

          3  and interviewing many of the stake holders involved

          4  in the New York City inclusionary zoning to be

          5                 I understand that the issue of Park

          6  Slope rezoning may be mute at this point, but wanted

          7  to advocate for the use of inclusionary zoning with

          8  pending rezonings around the City. Based on my

          9  research, I'm in strong support of the use of

         10  inclusionary zoning in pending rezonings.

         11                 Inclusionary zoning will be a viable

         12  policy tool for incenting the development of both

         13  market rate and affordable housing in rezoned areas.

         14  By leveraging the financial capacity and development

         15  efficiency of four profit developers, New York City

         16  can ensure low cost, high quality housing product

         17  for working families. Developers can receive the

         18  benefit of increased density and then when combined

         19  with the City's other financial and tax based

         20  incentives, can achieve an even higher profit margin

         21  than as with right development.

         22                 It is appropriate that the publicly

         23  endowed windfall from rezonings include a public

         24  benefit of housing that is affordable to moderate

         25  and low- income families. This type of public,
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          2  private partnership is crucial amidst New York

          3  City's budget crisis and will advance the Bloomberg

          4  Administration's new market place goals of creating

          5  65,000 units of affordable housing over the next

          6  five years. The housing landscape in New York City

          7  is right for a modified version of New York City's

          8  current inclusionary housing program. A strong

          9  housing market, especially in certain neighborhoods,

         10  around the City combined with a continued crisis

         11  regarding the affordability and availability of

         12  housing and growing gentrification and displacement

         13  of long- term time residents. Making affordable

         14  inclusionary bonus both profitable for developers

         15  and imperative for the working families of New York.

         16                 It is important to emphasize that the

         17  gentrification of traditionally lower income New

         18  York City neighborhoods will be exacerbated by the

         19  Department's rezoning and up zoning proposals if

         20  something is not done. Moderate and lower income

         21  families cannot compete with the lots of the rich

         22  and so will either end up paying an unbearable

         23  percentage of their income for rent or will be

         24  forced to live the neighborhoods in which they grew

         25  up, raise their children, and have been there for
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          2  many years.

          3                 Stimulating the development of new

          4  housing is vital and the climate of a severe housing

          5  shortage and is a meritorious goal of the Department

          6  of City Planning's rezoning proposals.

          7  Unfortunately, when developers respond to the

          8  rezonings, they will almost certainly not produce

          9  the affordable units desperately needed in New York

         10  City. For the good of working families in New York,

         11  I asked the City Council to seriously consider the

         12  modification of future rezonings to include an

         13  inclusionary zoning provision. Thank you.

         14                 MS. GELBER: Good morning, Mr.

         15  Chairman and members of the Council. My name is

         16  Marilyn Gelber, and I'm here this morning to share

         17  with you my perspective on the Park Slope rezoning

         18  proposal that you have before you.

         19                 I do that, both as someone who served

         20  briefly as the Brooklyn member of the City Planning

         21  Commission, also worked for ten years at the

         22  Department of City Planning and currently direct a

         23  community development foundation that does work

         24  throughout the region and I guess I also am a

         25  Brooklyn resident.
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          2                 Council members are -- you are

          3  acutely aware of the unprecedented financial and

          4  social challenges our City must confront. As I visit

          5  neighborhoods and work with nonprofit organizations

          6  throughout the region, it's clear that all of us,

          7  the public, the private, and nonprofit sectors, must

          8  approach issues in fresh ways that are creative,

          9  that are cost effective and efficient. We must

         10  collaborate in ways, perhaps, we have not thought

         11  about before when a stronger economy gave us the

         12  luxury of pursuing our own goals more independently.

         13                 Our City's housing commissioner,

         14  Jeraldine Perine and you heard from Joe Rosenberg

         15  earlier, they're at the forefront of such thinking.

         16  Because along with the HCD, they began to pursue

         17  investment strategies that do respond to the fact

         18  that there is little City owned land and buildings

         19  left. They have built an enormously competent agency

         20  infrastructure which has been very important in

         21  stabilizing and strengthening neighborhoods by using

         22  land and buildings that have been owned by the City.

         23  But now, they've made an incredibly important shift

         24  to begin to develop economic incentive programs that

         25  are coordinated with proposed land use and zoning
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          2  changes. This has not happened before.

          3                 As you consider increasing

          4  residential densities in neighborhoods like Park

          5  Slope or rezoning formally industrial areas in the

          6  Bronx, in Staten Island and Brooklyn, I think HPD

          7  tools need to be accompanied by other tools created

          8  through City Planning. City Planning needs also to

          9  craft zoning tools to go along with the financing

         10  tools to leverage private investment in affordable

         11  housing. In the past, City planning has had a rich

         12  history in creating zoning bonuses to encourage the

         13  development of public open space and plazas, transit

         14  improvements and even saving theaters.

         15                 Indeed, more than ten years ago, as

         16  you heard earlier, City planning attempted to create

         17  a plan for inclusionary zoning in high density

         18  districts in Manhattan. And while not perfect, the

         19  district did result or the legislation did result in

         20  more than 500 units being created.

         21                 The Bloomberg Administration is to be

         22  applauded for setting an ambitious goal to create

         23  65,000 units of new housing utilizing a combination

         24  of finance and land use strategies. There has been

         25  almost unprecedented cooperation between agencies.
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          2  Between HPD, DEP, Building, City Planning, to create

          3  the framework for that plan. Yet, City Planning as

          4  it's proceeding today to upzone neighborhoods like

          5  Park Slope or rezone industrial areas, such as

          6  Greenpoint, Williamsburg, has not yet offered us

          7  zoning incentives to encourage the private sector to

          8  include affordable units in new residential

          9  developments. HPD's financial incentives are

         10  critical. There are very helpful. But the best way

         11  to ensure that those financing incentives are

         12  targeted effectively is to also create companion

         13  zoning tools to drive those investments.

         14                 I don't want to go on to much further

         15  because you've heard a lot this morning. And

         16  obviously certain agreements have been reached.

         17  Frankly, I would have recommended that in your

         18  position what you should do is try to ensure that

         19  the Park Slope plan does begin to receive a priority

         20  for some of the financing investments that HPD is

         21  developing. Nevertheless, I think as other proposals

         22  are advanced for other rezonings throughout the

         23  City, it's important that City planning continue to

         24  be encouraged to come up with zoning approaches that

         25  go along with the financial incentives.
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          2                 You just can't turn a blind eye to

          3  the fact that these rezonings will greatly increase

          4  the economic value of large tracks of privately

          5  owned land. In exchange, City Planning should

          6  consider how to create incentives to turn this

          7  increased real estate value to the greatest public

          8  benefit. I believe, City Planning, has an enormously

          9  powerful role to play in helping to strengthen our

         10  neighborhoods and stimulate smart investors. I urge

         11  you to help City Planning find those tools to do

         12  that to be effective. HPD has stepped up to the

         13  challenge and so should City Planning. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you. Next

         15  panel. Simeon Bankoff was here from the Historic

         16  District Council. He advised me during the break

         17  that he had to go to the Landmark Subcommittee. But

         18  he is in favor of the application. Eva from the

         19  Municipal Arts Society, Kimberly Miller, Carl

         20  Kaiserman, and David Galaza.

         21                 MS. MILLER: Good morning. I'm

         22  Kimberly Miller. I'm with the Municipal Arts Society

         23  and I'm here today on behalf of the Planning

         24  Committee of Municipal Arts Society. We would like

         25  to commend the Department of City Planning for the
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          2  Park Slope Rezoning Proposal. As you said, we're in

          3  favor and through careful analysis of the

          4  neighborhood context, and the reasoned application

          5  of the zoning resolutions contextual districts, City

          6  Planning has created a template for development that

          7  will encourage growth and prosperity in this area.

          8                 Based on what we've heard this

          9  morning, also from HPD, we would like to commend

         10  that agency for their commitment to this area and

         11  for their cooperation with the Department of City

         12  Planning. Speaking to the proposal itself, the City

         13  Planning Department has conducted a block by block

         14  analysis of Park Slope rezoning neighborhood and has

         15  proposed replacing what we consider to be a

         16  monolithic R6 zone with a series of interlocking

         17  contextual districts that better match the character

         18  of the neighborhood side streets and major avenues.

         19  Nearly, the entire 110 block area under

         20  consideration is now zoned R6. Permits buildings to

         21  reach as high as 12 stories. And because Park Slope

         22  is under constant development pressure. We believe

         23  the new zoning designations on the midblock streets

         24  along the Park and on Fourth Avenue will serve to

         25  protect the City's most distinctive and harmonious
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          2  development patterns from being overwhelmed by out

          3  of scale structures.

          4                 By including a large portion of the

          5  historic district in this application, the Planning

          6  Committee also believes that City Planning is

          7  helping preserve the neighborhood character of

          8  several City blocks that have long been recognized

          9  by the City to be valuable historic resources.

         10                 Along Fourth Avenue, City Planning is

         11  setting a more appropriate context for new

         12  commercial and residential opportunities on one of

         13  Brooklyn's highest capacity corridors. Higher

         14  density, mixed commercial and residential buildings

         15  of up to 12 stories on the north end of the Avenue,

         16  will not only improve the scale of the neighborhood

         17  to the street, but will also provide increased

         18  potential for new housing production in one of the

         19  most affordable areas of the booming Park Slope

         20  neighborhood.

         21                 In conclusion, I'd like to say that

         22  we commend City Planning for this proposal. And will

         23  continue to support their efforts to make zoning an

         24  increasingly relevant instrument in this and other

         25  communities in the implementation of the City's Land
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          2  Use policy. And we urge the committee on zoning and

          3  franchises to grant a favorable review to this

          4  measure.

          5                 MS. HANHARDT: I'm Eva Hanhardt and

          6  I'm the Co- Director of the Planning Center at the

          7  Municipal Arts Society.  The mission of the Planning

          8  Center is to support community planning in low and

          9  moderate income communities. And along with the

         10  planning committee of the Municipal Arts Society,

         11  the Planning Center is very supportive of the

         12  proposed Park Slope rezoning. And commends City

         13  Planning for its excellent work. And HPD, for its

         14  strong commitment to affordable housing in Park

         15  Slope and City wide.

         16                 However, reflecting the concerns of

         17  many low- income residents, the Planning Center

         18  would like to recommend that the City modify the

         19  proposed rezoning to reflect the goals of a pilot

         20  inclusionary zoning program as proposed by the Fifth

         21  Avenue Committee. This proposal would combine the

         22  increased density along Fourth Avenue with a

         23  provision of affordable housing units.

         24                 Today, New York is in a critical need

         25  of additional housing units especially for those
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          2  that are affordable to low- income New Yorkers.

          3  Proposals such as the Park Slope rezoning can

          4  provide an excellent way of increasing housing

          5  supply. But at the same time, the Planning Center

          6  has long advocated adopting innovative and viable

          7  ways of addressing the problems of displacement.

          8  Experience by low- income residents in neighborhoods

          9  such as Park Slope.

         10                 We believe that Park Slope could

         11  provide an effective model, City wide model, for

         12  fostering both increased housing development and

         13  community stability. We, therefore, strongly urge

         14  the City Council to approve the Park Slope rezoning

         15  as modified by the Fifth Avenue inclusionary zoning

         16  proposal. And pending, and actually based on, a firm

         17  commitment by the City to the provision of multiple

         18  tools for guaranteeing affordable housing units as

         19  part of the rezoning. Thank you very much.

         20                 MR. KAISERMAN: Good morning, I'm Carl

         21  Kasierman. A life- time resident of New York City.

         22  An architect, a community advocate and resident of

         23  Park Slope since 1975. I have been a trustee of the

         24  Park Slope Civic Council for 22 years. I am

         25  representing this 104 year old, 700 member
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          2  organization today. Our community believes that we

          3  are in the home stretch of closing a two decade

          4  struggle to secure the character and future of this

          5  very vibrant and yet visually historic neighborhood.

          6                 The zoning change before you will

          7  preserve both of these often competitive goals.

          8  Contextual zoning will continue to permit

          9  development, but will provide better height and bulk

         10  constraints to make for a visual fit within the

         11  historic fabric we have come to understand is our

         12  unique treasure.

         13                 We applaud the Mayor's proposal to

         14  develop 65,000 units of sorely needed housing

         15  throughout New York City. And believe that the

         16  provisions included for up zoning, our Fourth Avenue

         17  corridor to R8A, with potential for a maximum of 12

         18  story apartment buildings. We believe massive

         19  increases in housing stock are the way to provide

         20  affordable housing for all our residents. We urge

         21  you to resist any 11th hour tag on amendments,

         22  wrongly attempting to make zoning serve social

         23  action. We have waited ten years since the north

         24  area of Park Slope received zoning protection.

         25  Please allow the balance of this long awaited
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          2  legislation to pass without further delay. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you. Next

          5  panel is Martha Marquez from Fifth Avenue Committee,

          6  Brad Lander from the Fifth Avenue Committee, Dr.

          7  Bragin -- am I pronouncing it right, from the Fifth

          8  Avenue Committee. There's two of them.

          9                 MR. LANDER: I think they've mostly

         10  gone home.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay. Then let's

         12  have Gloria Waldron or Don Baylor from ACORN.  Okay.

         13                 MR. LANDER: Thank you Chair Avella,

         14  and members of the committee to Chair Burden and the

         15  City Planning Department for such a thoughtful

         16  proposal and to our Council Members for working so

         17  hard on affordable housing. I'm Brad Lander, the

         18  Executive Director of the Fifth Avenue Committee.

         19  For 25 years, we've been the leading developer and

         20  advocate for affordable housing in Park Slope.

         21                 I'm glad that there's broad agreement

         22  on the importance of affordable housing and glad

         23  that there's a commitment from the Administration

         24  and the City Council to try to achieve it. I'm also

         25  a big fan of the Mayor's housing plan. I'm honored
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          2  to serve on his neighborhood investment advisory

          3  panel and we work very hard to put all of those

          4  wonderful programs to use in our neighborhood.

          5                 Sadly, though, we are the only

          6  developer trying to build affordable housing in Park

          7  Slope and we can't afford the land there anymore.

          8  So, as much as I think the plan is wonderful, it's

          9  simply not going to produce affordable housing in

         10  Park Slope and I fear that the commitment that's

         11  been put on the table today isn't going to get used.

         12  Basically, if you're a developer and the numbers

         13  that the Administration provided, said they think a

         14  developer can sell a two bedroom apartment on Fourth

         15  Avenue for $500,000.00. If you can do that, you're

         16  not going to take one of the incentives in the

         17  Mayor's plan and these are numbers that HDC provided

         18  to the Borough President. Not numbers that we've

         19  come up with at all. If you can do that, you not

         20  going to avail yourselves of the Mayor's plan. And

         21  we're not going to get affordable housing in

         22  communities with strong markets. We're not going to

         23  get it in Park Slope. We're not going to get it in

         24  Williamsburg. We're not going to get it in downtown

         25  Brooklyn. We're not going to get it on the West
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          2  side. We're not going to get it in Harlem.

          3                 We're going to get it in

          4  neighborhoods where the land costs are lower and

          5  where the alternative of what you could rent or sell

          6  a unit for is lower. The plan is wonderful to help

          7  to do that, but it's not going to achieve affordable

          8  housing in neighborhoods with higher market prices.

          9  That's why you use zoning and land use powers to try

         10  to achieve it. I guess, it's why we need the tools.

         11  It's why developers are up here. It's why bankers

         12  are up here saying, well, the Council needs to think

         13  about, what City Planning needs to think about, what

         14  the Administration needs to think about is how we

         15  can use land use tools along with finance tools to

         16  make sure we keep some mixed income communities in

         17  New York City. And that we don't -- see all the

         18  65,000 units only being used by developers in low-

         19  income neighborhoods.

         20                 Again, there's a site on Fourth

         21  Avenue between Fourth and Fifth Street, that was two

         22  weeks from closing with one of the tools -- with one

         23  of the programs in the Mayor's housing plan, the new

         24  Hot Plan. But, two weeks before it was set to close

         25  and get us 60 units of affordable housing, a
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          2  developer learned of this up zoning and came along

          3  and offered $4 million dollars for the land. And now

          4  as we understand, there are plans to build a 100

          5  units of market rate housing. That's what is going

          6  to happen when you double the value of land along

          7  Fourth Avenue creating a huge windfall and asking

          8  for nothing in return. Instead, saying, in fact

          9  we'll try to give you even a little more if you'll

         10  please include a couple of affordable housing units.

         11  Even though we know what you could rent those units

         12  for is far in excess.

         13                 The numbers clearly show that the --

         14  City provided clears that inclusionary zoning could

         15  work. If it's true as HDC says you could sell those

         16  units for $500,000.00, you absolutely could cross

         17  subsidize some other units. Not have to use City

         18  capital and achieve affordable housing. Or you can

         19  bring the zoning and the Mayor's financial plan

         20  together and achieve units all over the City using

         21  zoning bonuses as they're doing all over the

         22  country. Do they need to be smart like Les Bluestone

         23  says. Of course, they need to be smart. But we're

         24  smart enough and City Planning is smart enough and

         25  the Council and the Administration are smart enough
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          2  to figure out how this works.

          3                 Finally, I guess, if zoning --

          4  neighborhood preservation in Park Slope is a

          5  wonderful social goal. And I'm thrilled that this

          6  rezoning achieves it. Keeping a height limit on the

          7  neighborhood is a marvelous social goal that I

          8  share. Affordable housing is a social goal that I

          9  share. The zoning and land use powers of the City

         10  are designed to be used to meet the City's needs and

         11  what I really hope, despite what happened today, is

         12  that the Council under Gail's tutelage and other

         13  people's leadership will say, how can we make zoning

         14  a tool for achieving affordable housing and that the

         15  Administration and City Planning will say, let's

         16  think about how we can do this in a way that works

         17  in Greenpoint, Williamsburg. And a way that works

         18  all around the City as we rezone neighborhoods.

         19  Thanks very much for your consideration.

         20                 MS. GALVEZ: Good morning or

         21  afternoon, it might be. My name is Martha Galvez.

         22  I'm an Urban Planner at Citizen Housing and Planning

         23  Council. A research organization specializing in

         24  housing planning and economic development policy in

         25  New York City. In fall of 2002, my organization
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          2  released a report examining New York City's tax

          3  incentive and zoning bonuses for affordable housing

          4  provision which I gave some copies to all of you, if

          5  you didn't already have it.

          6                 I'm here to speak more generally

          7  about inclusionary housing and to underscore CHPC's

          8  support for strengthening the City's existing

          9  program. As you know, it is as- of- right -- it's a

         10  density bonus given above the as- of- right in

         11  exchange for affordable housing provision. I'd like

         12  to mention reasons why it hasn't worked so far in

         13  New York. Or we've gotten about 600 below market

         14  rate units out of the program since 1987. And I

         15  think it's important not to overlook that it's not

         16   -- I've heard it say that it won't -- it hasn't

         17  worked in the outer boroughs. It only works in high

         18  density areas. It's not applicable to the outer

         19  boroughs. It's not applicable to low density areas.

         20  It's limited to R10 density.

         21                 Inclusionary housing has failed to

         22  produce more units because of the R10 limitation

         23  prevents it from being used outside of core

         24  Manhattan. Because the program cannot used

         25  seamlessly with other affordable housing programs
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          2  and, because they are cumbersome program rules and

          3  restrictions. When people are talking about

          4  inclusionary housing, it's something that has not

          5  work or will not work, it's thinking of it as a

          6  program as it exist today. As a revamp program, we

          7  believe that it will result in affordable housing

          8  production. Particularly, in areas that are

          9  undergoing economic change and are experiencing

         10  gentrification.

         11                 So, CHPC strongly encourages the City

         12  to expand inclusionary housing as an optional

         13  program available -- applicable in medium density

         14  districts zoned R6 or R7 and above. Or to

         15  incorporate it into rezoning actions through special

         16  inclusionary housing overlays or as special

         17  inclusionary housing districts.

         18                 We also support adapting the programs

         19  so that it may be used concurrently with other

         20  existing tax credit or tax exempt financing

         21  opportunities. We believe that inclusionary housing

         22  program would stimulate the production of both

         23  market rate and affordable housing production in the

         24  outer boroughs. The affordable units supplementing

         25  as opposed to substituting for market rate units. It
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          2  would also create a mechanism through which

          3  communities could couple gentrification trends with

          4  affordable and middle- income housing creation. We

          5  also believe that inclusionary housing will

          6  encourage community support for development at

          7  optional -- optimal densities by ensuring that a

          8  portion of new development will include affordable

          9  housing units.

         10                 And perhaps the most compelling

         11  argument for inclusionary housing is that it could

         12  be enhanced with no direct cost to the City. That's

         13  it. Thanks.

         14                 MS. WALDRON: My name is Gloria

         15  Waldron. President of New York ACORN. I'm here to

         16  express our support for the Park Slope rezoning

         17  effort that would include affordable housing bonus

         18  or inclusionary zoning. As market rate developments

         19  continue to displace working families, the City

         20  drafts more and more rezoning plans including the

         21  East Harlem and Morrisania proposals. The Council

         22  needs to support inclusionary zoning. To do more

         23  affordable housing in mixed income communities.

         24                 This concept coincides with ACORN's

         25  housing development campaign to ensure that local
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          2  incomes are taken into account when either rezoning

          3  new construction -- when either rezoning or new

          4  construction is taken place. The median household

          5  income in Park Slope is $55,000.00 a year.

          6  Neighboring Sunset Park's median income is lower,

          7  less than $35,000.00 a year. If the proposal

          8  proceeds without inclusionary zoning, this

          9  displacement of low and moderate income families

         10  living next to Park Slope, will increase. Land use

         11  policies should ease the housing burden of this

         12  City, not perpetuate dislocation and gentrification.

         13                 While ACORN is supportive of rezoning

         14  efforts that create more housing opportunities, it

         15  is crucial that these proposals compel private

         16  developers to address local housing needs. All

         17  rezoning plans must be tied to affordable housing

         18  incentives to target various income groups that are

         19  reflective of the City and local area.

         20                 As the first major rezoning effort of

         21  the Mayor's housing plan how this subcommittee

         22  proceeds on this matter will indicate how the

         23  Council will act on further rezoning issues. And

         24  where the Council stands on the urgent housing needs

         25  for working families. We urge the Council to embrace
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          2  aggressive inclusionary zoning in all future

          3  rezoning proposals. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you. --

          5  Galarza. Not here. Catherine Herman, Mike McGuire,

          6  Peter Gillespie, Alison Cordero.

          7                 MR. MCGUIRE: Mike McGuire, Mason

          8  Tenders District Council. I know we're on the clock

          9  here. So I'm just going to go away from my written

         10  testimony and make a couple of points. Obviously, in

         11  building, we're always in favor of anything that

         12  creates more development. It means more job for our

         13  members. But, in New York City, where affordable

         14  housing is disappearing.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Mike, hold on one

         16  second. If I can ask everybody in the back, please,

         17  it is discourteous to our speakers. If you must have

         18  a conversation, please take it outside the room.

         19  Thanks.

         20                 MR. MCGUIRE: Affordable housing in

         21  this City, it's disappearing at an amazing rate. I

         22  was looking at a study the other day that showed

         23  that due to the luxury -- let me jump back by

         24  saying. The only real successful affordable housing

         25  programs we've ever had in this City are rent
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          2  stabilization and rent control. And due to vacancy

          3  decontrol and luxury decontrol, between 1993 and

          4  2003, 99,000 units became destabilized. Which was

          5  better than eight percent of all the rent stabilized

          6  units that existed in 1993.

          7                 These units that they're talking

          8  about building in Park Slope, like I say, we're

          9  absolutely in favor of building them. The thing is,

         10  my members are among the high highest paid blue

         11  collar workers in this City and they couldn't afford

         12  to live in the buildings that they're building in

         13  Park Slope, if these buildings go up the way they

         14  are. So, we're certainly in favor of the Park Slope

         15  rezoning, but we'd like to see affordable housing

         16  component in it. The plan that Councilman Yassky

         17  DeBlasio, and Gonzalez put forward works pretty

         18  good. But, our rule of thumb usually is 20 percent

         19  affordable housing. I know they were looking for ten

         20  percent somewhere. We're actually saying they should

         21  go a little further.

         22                 It's just the people -- the people in

         23  my union who are the middle- class working families

         24  of the City, they're the back bone of New York City.

         25  These are the people -- they shoulder all the
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          2  burdens. They always do. The poor folks can't do it.

          3  They don't have the means to do it. The rich people

          4  won't do it. It's middle- class people. And they're

          5  being forced to move to the suburbs to raise their

          6  families because they can't affordable housing in

          7  the City. And when that happens, the foundations is

          8  going to give way and the City is just going to

          9  collapse in on itself. Thanks.

         10                 MS. CORDERO: Hi. I'm Alison Cordero.

         11  I'm the Deputy Director for Community Preservation

         12  at St. Nicholas Neighborhood Preservation is

         13  Williamsburg. I'm here with two other -- three other

         14  colleagues from Williamsburg to support the proposal

         15  of my colleagues from the Fifth Avenue Committee for

         16  consideration of inclusionary zoning proposal in the

         17  proposed Park Slope rezoning. Unfortunately, it

         18  seems like this deal is already cut. But, St.

         19  Nicholas is a community development corporation

         20  working in the center and east Williamsburg and

         21  southern Greenpoint areas of Brooklyn.

         22                 The Park Slope rezoning is only --

         23  has been said several times today, the first of

         24  several major zoning changes proposed by the Mayor

         25  and the Department of City Planning. Among the other
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          2  proposed changes are the rezoning of an equally

          3  large area of Williamsburg/Greenpoint, the community

          4  in which our organizations works. These large scale

          5  zoning changes are at the core of the Mayor's

          6  housing plan and will potentially create thousands

          7  of units of housing. But the City cannot afford and

          8  I think, Mike elegantly articulated the reasons why.

          9  City cannot afford to pass up the opportunity to

         10  ensure that significant numbers of affordable units

         11  are developed along with thousands of market rate

         12  units.

         13                 I'm sure I don't need to convince the

         14  members of the Council the need for affordable

         15  housing. Most of your district offices receive, as

         16  we do in our office, a constant stream of request

         17  for housing assistance from families and

         18  individuals. In Greenpoint/Williamsburg, as in Park

         19  Slope, those who can no longer afford to live in the

         20  community include most long term residents who do

         21  not own their homes or live in subsidized housing.

         22  We've been working closely with our colleagues in

         23  Park Slope and other north Brooklyn neighborhoods on

         24  strategies to stem displacement. It is clear that

         25  the unrestricted construction of market rate housing
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          2  will only accelerate this displacement.

          3                 While new development is welcome,

          4  it's very unlikely that low and moderate income

          5  families will be able to afford the apartments which

          6  will be built under this rezoning. In fact, our

          7  experience with housing built in

          8  Williamsburg/Greenpoint, under the extensive

          9  variances which have occurred there, indicates a

         10  development of market rate housing will probably

         11  accelerate the displacement of existing residents.

         12                 The resources of the Mayor's housing

         13  plan will not be used in neighborhoods where market

         14  rents and sales prices and Ron Shiffman, aren't you

         15  glad the reasons why. Where market rates and sell

         16  prices outpace what can be subsidized. And that $6

         17  million dollars will probably go unspent in Park

         18  Slope. That might be nice for HPD in a tight budget,

         19  but you can recycle the $6 million, it will show up

         20  in the next rezoning plan. But the people who's

         21  backs that burden will be borne on are your

         22  constituents, our constituents and I would urge the

         23  Council to see that if there is still possible to do

         24  something in Park Slope, that they do it. And that

         25  certainly in future rezonings, they not allow what
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          2  has happened here to happen.

          3                 I live in Fort Green. I sat through

          4  the Astoria process. And what we kept being told

          5  that something is better than nothing. And in

          6  consequence, we need to keep in mind is that this

          7  land is the land that we will have and what was

          8  developed on this land, we will have for another 100

          9  to 200 years. So, it's not true that something is

         10  better than nothing. The long term impacts that Mike

         11  is talking about, that Ron is talking about, we will

         12  have to live with those too. Right now, the people

         13  who will bear those burdens are the low and moderate

         14  income residents in places like Park Slope. Thank

         15  you. And Williamsburg.

         16                 MS. HERMAN: Hello. My name is Cathy

         17  Herman. I'm Director of Planning and Development in

         18  Southside United Housing Corp in Southside

         19  Williamsburg. I also live in Park Slope. As I was

         20  driving down Fourth Avenue past my son's school at

         21  Middle School 51, I noticed an incredible amount of

         22  development. I don't know what people are saying

         23  that there's no development in Fourth Avenue. It's

         24  not literally on Fourth Avenue. It's a lot above

         25  Fourth Avenue. But from Union to Fifth Street, it's
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          2  staggering the number of units going up there. So,

          3  the market seems to already be strong without the

          4  rezoning.

          5                 I'm here also in mind of the rezoning

          6  study going in Greenpoint/Williamsburg where I work.

          7  I'm on the rezoning task force on the affordable

          8  housing committee and we've appeared before this

          9  subcommittee before. And appreciate all the

         10  attention that you've put to our issues. And it's

         11  with great trepidation that we all volunteered to be

         12  on the task force because we knew that we would just

         13  come up with recommendations. And we didn't know --

         14  there's a difference between recommendation and

         15  what's finally adopted, implemented. We are happy to

         16  see that the City and City Planning is very

         17  willingly to converse with us and we just hope that

         18  those conversations end up generating new tools.

         19                 When I talked with my fellow planners

         20  about why inclusionary zoning doesn't work from

         21  their point of view, because it's interesting why

         22  there's such a huge gap in opinion. Some people

         23  think inclusionary zoning works beautifully and the

         24  City seems to think its a object failure. It would

         25  be interesting to find out why in fact people feel

                                                            104

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  it does fail. Because I think we absolutely need to

          3  figure out a way to make it work. Maybe it needs to

          4  be combined with things. Maybe we need to have

          5  partnerships between the profit and not- for-

          6  profits. Maybe we need to have developers work

          7  differently. There clearly is a huge interest in

          8  building market rate housing and I can't speak for

          9  Fifth Avenue Committee or I wouldn't try to speak

         10  for the Park Slope community. But I know in

         11  Greenpoint/Williamsburg, it's probably not that

         12  different that indeed -- I'm not sure why we embrace

         13  so much the idea of building market rate housing.

         14  I'm not sure what it does in a neighborhood that's

         15  so positive. There seems to be a love affair with

         16  it.

         17                 To me, what I see is all those sites

         18  along Fourth Avenue is developable sites. I see

         19  units less than six -- buildings less than six units

         20  which means they are not regulated. I know some of

         21  the families living there. They go to school with my

         22  kids. And I think that's great. I think the

         23  neighborhood has changed a great deal over the

         24  years. And I just feel that it's more important to

         25  preserve what we have because when they buildings
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          2  come in at market rate, there is no question that

          3  there's a relationship between gentrification and

          4  homelessness. And where do people go? They'll go to

          5  the housing authority developments in the area and

          6  double up with families, their relatives. And God

          7  bless, the housing authority for being the only real

          8  low- income developer in the City. Or they'll go to

          9  shelters. And I assume that will happen in Park

         10  Slope. Because that's what we see happening in the

         11  neighborhood I work in.

         12                 I just think that's a burden the

         13  government ends up picking up and why we think the

         14  developers can only build market rate houses. And

         15  that's valuable. I just question that. Thank you for

         16  your time.

         17                 MR. GILLESPIE: Good afternoon,

         18  Chairman Avella, and members of the subcommittee. My

         19  name is Peter Gillespie. And I am lead organizer for

         20  NAG (Neighbors Against Garbage), a grassroots

         21  community based organization in Brooklyn, committed

         22  to improving neighborhood quality of life through

         23  sustainable and equitable development since 1994.

         24                 Working with only two full- time and

         25  two part- time staff members, NAG marshals the
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          2  resources of over 60 active volunteers and more than

          3  1,400 members to ensure that the voices of North

          4  Brooklyn community residents are heard in public

          5  debates over the environment, planning and

          6  development. The City Council plays a vital role in

          7  facilitating the redevelopment of our City's

          8  neighborhoods through its mandate to review and

          9  improve key City land use actions. Essential to

         10  fulfilling this mandate is ensuring that new

         11  development strengthens surrounding communities and

         12  meets the diverse needs of present and future

         13  residents.

         14                 NAG is here today to express our

         15  strong support for new strategies to use zoning

         16  policy to encourage the development of badly needed

         17  affordable housing outside of Manhattan. We are

         18  grateful that the rezoning proposal for the

         19  neighboring community of Park Slope Brooklyn that is

         20  under consideration today, contains a new initiative

         21  to encourage the development of badly needed

         22  affordable housing. At the same time still, we

         23  specifically ask that the City Council take whatever

         24  steps are necessary to ensure that the Park Slope

         25  rezoning will ultimately include an affordable
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          2  housing zoning bonus.

          3                 In the not too distant future, this

          4  subcommittee will convene again to consider an even

          5  larger rezoning proposal for Greenpoint and

          6  Williamsburg. We are here today because the

          7  Council's actions this week on the Park Slope

          8  rezoning will send a clear signal to our neighbors

          9  in North Brooklyn about whether or not the Council

         10  is truly committed to affordable housing.

         11                 In our community, we believe even

         12  more is at stake. Brooklyn Community District #1

         13  experienced a 67 percent increase in rents between

         14  1990 and 2000. A larger increase than any other

         15  community district in the City. But after a decade

         16  in which Greenpoint and Williamsburg have emerged

         17  amongst the City's most desirable neighborhoods,

         18  median household incomes still stand at only a

         19  little over $26,000.00 and more than 1/3 of our

         20  neighbors live in poverty. As a result, we've

         21  witnessed significant displacement of long- term

         22  residents.

         23                 The large scale rezoning proposed

         24  today for Park Slope and the plan that will soon

         25  emerge for North Brooklyn present great
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          2  opportunities to create thousands of new homes. But

          3  in the face of rapidly rising rents and stagnant

          4  household incomes, current residents will certainly

          5  be priced out unless the City takes action to create

          6  strong mandates and incentives for affordable

          7  housing in any community that is slated for

          8  rezoning.

          9                 We ask the subcommittee, therefore,

         10  to support the local council members plan to ensure

         11  that the Park Slope rezoning address the needs of

         12  New Yorkers at all income levels and to send a

         13  message to the rest of the City that the Council is

         14  prepared to take action on the City's affordable

         15  housing crisis. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: The last panel is

         17  Martha Galvez, Citizens Housing and Planning, Irene

         18  Lore and Mike McKee.

         19                 MR. MCKEE: Ladies, first.

         20                 MS. LORE: Thank you very much My name

         21  is Irene Lore. Unlike the speakers who came before

         22  me, I both live and work in Park Slope. Try not to

         23  leave my zip code. Only for important occasions like

         24  this. And welcome the opportunity to speak to you. I

         25  own a business on Fifth Avenue. I've been in the
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          2  Slope for 30 years. I want to speak in favor of the

          3  contextual rezoning. And I'm at that age where I

          4  have a lot of doctors and I've discovered that if

          5  you ask a surgeon, he says, get surgery. You ask an

          6  internist, you wind up with ten prescriptions and

          7  you're on a medical regimen. If you ask a housing

          8  not- for- profit, they say, affordable housing. And

          9  I think we're mixing apples and pears.

         10                 I believe -- I'm not against

         11  affordable housing. That would be like saying, oh,

         12  you're against motherhood and apple pie. I don't

         13  think anybody from the Slope is against affordable

         14  housing. The question is where do you do it and how

         15  do you do it? And it would be my opinion that you do

         16  not do it through zoning laws. And basically,

         17  affordable housing has to be done through other

         18  areas. HPD, private money, nonprofit money and we

         19  are -- I think we have been clouded by this mixing

         20  of apples and pears and we have to think clearly

         21  about not just one problem in the community being

         22  affordable housing, but what's best -- what kind of

         23  development is best for the whole community. I

         24  guess, I'm sure you've been here all morning and

         25  you've heard all the zoning reasons why to do it.
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          2  But, I just wanted to add that. Thank you very much

          3  for the opportunity.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I just want to

          5  comment on what you said because I think you hit the

          6  issue on the head. And not a heck of a lot of the

          7  speakers today really understand the issue. That I

          8  don't think there's anybody in the Council or in the

          9  community that is against affordable housing. The

         10  question is how do you do it and where do you do it.

         11  And you just said that. And rest assured that this

         12  committee and the entire City Council is going to do

         13  what they can in the appropriate spot by the

         14  appropriate mechanism.

         15                 MS. LORE: Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I appreciate your

         17  comments.

         18                 MS. LORE: Thank you very much.

         19                 MR. MCKEE: Good afternoon. My name is

         20  Michael McKee. I'm the Associate Director of Tenants

         21  and Neighbors. The City Council is at a crossroads.

         22  The first rezoning proposal, of several to come from

         23  the Administration, is a test. The Council must not

         24  fail.

         25                 The test is whether the Council will
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          2  establish, firmly and unequivocally, the principle

          3  that any such rezoning must include a significant

          4  amount of affordable housing or whether you will

          5  cave in to an all market approach. In particular,

          6  the proposed up zoning of the Fourth Avenue corridor

          7  to more than double the allowable height of new

          8  residential buildings to 12 stories should include

          9  provisions requiring that at least half the units be

         10  affordable to households earning 80 percent or less

         11  of local median income. These units should be in the

         12  new buildings, not off site.

         13                 Absent such provisions, the Council

         14  should oppose any rezoning higher than R7A for

         15  Fourth Avenue. Tenants & Neighbors is solidly behind

         16  the proposals by Council Members Yassky, DeBlasio

         17  and Gonzalez in this matter. The Administration's

         18  reliance on market forces is misplaced. While new

         19  housing is welcome, the Administration is ignoring

         20  inevitable negative consequences.

         21                 It is not only that low and moderate

         22  income families will not be able to afford any of

         23  the market rate units. Worse, large scale market

         24  rate development will add to the secondary

         25  displacement pressures in a neighborhood that is
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          2  already under enormous market stress. Large

          3  proportions of renter households in Park Slope live

          4  in smaller buildings and therefore have no rent and

          5  eviction protections. As rents and sales prices

          6  rise, more of them face eviction. Even rent

          7  regulated tenants are feeling the pressure. As

          8  currently proposed, this upzoning will cause rents

          9  in the area to rise even more, threatening current

         10  tenants with economic displacement or eviction. A

         11  mix of market rate and below market rate housing

         12  would have the opposite impact, expanding the

         13  housing supply while stabilizing the community.

         14                 One more point, any new below market

         15  apartment should be permanently affordable, not for

         16  a limited period of time as with other programs.

         17  Tenants and Neighbors asks the Council to stand

         18  firm. Don't fail this first test. For Council

         19  Members who do not represent Park Slope or Sunset

         20  Park, think ahead to the negative impact on your

         21  neighborhoods from future market based zoning

         22  proposals that will come before you. The economic

         23  and social health of our City for generations to

         24  come rests on the decision you make on this

         25  proposal. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Is there anybody

          3  else who wishes to speak on this side. Otherwise

          4  I'll close the public hearing aspect.

          5                 MR. GALARZA: I stepped out for a

          6  second. David Galarza. I was at the Central Labor

          7  Council Press Conference outside. Good afternoon,

          8  Chairman, committee members, City Council people,

          9  concerned citizens. My name is David Galarza. I live

         10  in Brooklyn formerly in Sunset Park. There was

         11  something not so subtle about the manner in which

         12  gentrification arrived in Sunset Park. In fact,

         13  about two years ago, a classified in the New York

         14  Times proudly announced the availability of several

         15  overpriced apartments in the neighborhood and under

         16  the headline Ideal for Manhattan Anglos. When I

         17  complained and some critical news stories about the

         18  ad emerged, a future version of the ad in a follow-

         19  up subsequent New York Times was -- the future

         20  version of the ad was ingeniously changed to read

         21   "Perfect for pioneering Manhattanites." I guess

         22  we'll need to call on some modern day Lewis &

         23  Clark's to discover some of the wild and untamed

         24  areas of Sunset Park. They better bring a lot of

         25  money too, if they intend on staying and renting
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          2  awhile.

          3                 I call attention to this ad because

          4  I've lived in Sunset Park nearly all of my life with

          5  an exception of a few months spent in pursuit of my

          6  career. I attend the local schools and churches and

          7  spent my teen summers cleaning up the neighborhoods

          8  as a member of Broom Brigade sponsored by the Summer

          9  Youth Employment Program. I basically grew up with

         10  all kinds of people from hard working families who

         11  are becoming increasingly harder to find on my old

         12  block or even as I walk along our main commercial

         13  hub, the bustling and colorful Fifth Avenue strip.

         14  Indeed, now I know first hand why. Many working

         15  class families can no longer afford to live here.

         16                 As excited as I was about bringing my

         17  new family to Sunset Park several months ago, sadly

         18  I was recently forced to look elsewhere for

         19  something reasonably and affordable. The reason

         20  being that our landlord indicated that a similar

         21  apartment up the street was fetching $400 more than

         22  what we were paying and our lease was about to

         23  expire. What makes my situation a little more ironic

         24  if not cruel, is that I also Chair the local

         25  Community Board's Housing Committee.
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          2                 We all know there is a serious lack

          3  of affordable housing in the City and South Brooklyn

          4  in particular. Thousands of New Yorkers like my wife

          5  and I, I work for the State Labor Union and she's a

          6  New York City school teacher. I'm finding it more

          7  and more difficult to afford apartments and homes in

          8  neighborhoods where we have strong roots.

          9                 It may not be the answer to all of

         10  our housing needs. But an affordable housing bonus

         11  or inclusionary zoning, seems to be working in many

         12  other communities throughout the country. It may

         13  need to be incorporated into the City's proposed

         14  rezoning of Park Slope. While I cringe at the

         15  thought of building more market rate apartments in

         16  the neighborhood since so many local residents can't

         17  afford them now, I'm still hopeful that this

         18  proposal will give some developers the incentive to

         19  create more affordable housing in mixed income

         20  communities.

         21                 If you're familiar with Fourth

         22  Avenue, you'll know that most of the buildings on

         23  the avenue are no higher than five or six stories as

         24  per the zoning now. Building anything higher than

         25  that will surely bring about protest from the

                                                            116

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  community. Rezoning that would allow -- rezoning,

          3  however, that would allow for additional housing

          4  bonus on top may go a long way toward alleviating

          5  neighborhood fears and concerns by creating a canyon

          6  of future housing opportunities instead of a canyon

          7  of the homeless and displaced.

          8                 As it stands, landlords already reap

          9  a windfall from the City's rezoning. Who knows, even

         10  certain Council Members who have their district

         11  offices on Fourth Avenue, may find themselves

         12  displaced. Unless they've already secured a mutually

         13  beneficial relationship with their landlord.

         14                 The public and indeed longtime

         15  residents should and need to gain something out of

         16  this rezoning as well. It wouldn't even be a hand

         17  out. It would just simply be fair. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you. That

         19  closes the public hearing aspect on this item. The

         20  committee is recessed to 9:00, Wednesday morning on

         21  April 30.

         22                 (Meeting adjourned at 12:30 p.m.)

         23
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         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.
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         13  related to any of the parties to this action by
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         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 28th day of April 2003.
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